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Credo
Cur Purpose
To build a great Company dedicated to our patients

Our Parameters
We focus our efforts exclusively on

What we are passionate about,
What we can become best at,
What drives our econaomic sustainability

Our Principles

We are above all the agents of our patients We aim to exceed their expectations every time
so that we earn their trust and loyalty We strive continuously to improve the quality and the
value of the care we give our patients,

We empower our people to do their best Our people are our greatest asset We should
select them attentively and invest in them passionately As everyone matters, everyone who
contributes should be a Partner in all that we do In return, we expect them to give their
patients all that they can,

We are unrelenting in the pursuit of excellence We embrace innovation and learn from our
mistakes We measure everything we do and we share the data with all to judge Pursuing
our ambition to be the best healthcare provider 1s a never-ending process 'Good enough'
never 1s
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Highlights
Financial highlights

Revenue under management* on continuing facilities** up 170 5% to £170 4 million {2011
£64 6 milhon)

Group revenue on continuing facilities®* up 13 4% to £73 2 million (2011 £64 6 million)
EBITDA*** loss hefore exceptional items on continuing activities improved 8 4% to £14 2
milhon {2011 loss of £15 5 milion}

Basic and diluted loss per share of 25 7p (2011 64 4p loss per share)

£47 5 milhan equity fundraising (before fees)

Repayment of £14 1 million loan to James Caird Asset Management {‘JCAM’)

Operational highlights

Patient procedures in continuing facilittes** up 20 9% to 147,291

Outstanding quahity metnics with continuing high rates of patient satisfaction and average
patient recommendation of 99 6% across all Circle owned continuing facilities

Patient volumes at flagship hospital CircleBath increased 39 7% with the continual growth in
new speciahities

New private hospital CircleReading opened in August 2012, on time and on budget

Selected as the preferred bidder by NHS commussioners to provide renewed services at the
Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years commencing from July 2013
Independent recognition of improvements in clinical performance and patient experience at
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust {‘Hinchingbrooke’) Projected annual deficit cut from
£10 milhion to £3 7 mullion




¢ Invited to tender for an innovative £150 milion, five year Integrated Musculoskeletal {"MSK’)
Service contract in Bedfordshire

* Engaged In strategic discussions regarding a potential financing solution for the independent
haspital development pipeline

Includes revenue generated at Hinchingbrooke which 15 managed by the Group, but not included in the Group's
consohdated revenue

** Defined as those continuing as at 31 December 2012, which excludes Circle’s Burton NHS Treatment Centre
*** Defined as Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, and Amortisation

Business model

Profile

Circle 1s an employee co-owned hospital Group with an ambition to transform UK Healthcare by re-
defining quality for patients and value for our stakeholders Circle forms the largest partnership of
healthcare professionals in Europe with over 2,500 partners Circle 1s co-founded, co-run and co-
owned by chinicians This model empowers the consultants and healthcare professionals who work
for Circle to put patients first in everything that they do

Circle has a clear social mission to redefine secondary healthcare delivery in the UK We aim to
achieve this through our unique operating model, {‘Circle Operating System’) which puts healthcare
professionals back in charge of the delivery of healthcare It has been successfully apphed and
proven to achieve high levels of patient care and efficiency through co-ownership and active
participation iIn managing operations

A key target for Circle is the circa £82 billion UK secondary acute healthcare market The directors
believe that current concerns over the quality of some NHS hospitals could increase the share of the
NHS market available to the non-state sector, which would allow Circle to tender for further NHS
contracts in the future In addition, Circle’s state-of-the-art, new-build independent hospitals in Bath
and Reading allow 1t to attract patients from both the NHS and independent markets




Chairman’s Statement

Overview of the year

I am pleased to report that 2012 has been another year of progress for the Group Thanks to the
dedication of our management and chinical teams, we delivered a successful first year in our ground-
breaking Hinchingbrooke contract, and were delghted to hear recently that we have been given
preferred bidder status to retain our operation of the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a
further five years Qur second new-build hospital, CircleReading, had an auspicious opening, with full
accreditation from all regulators and private medical insurers CircleBath has seen consistent growth
in patrent volumes and has significantly expanded its service with several new specialties now on
offer While the Company has yet to break into overall profitability, | believe that we have a proven
concept in clirucal perfarmance terms and are on a path towards sustainability from a financial
perspective

These developments were facilitated by a substantial £47 S million equity fund-raise to finance our
operating plans The Board has been gratified by the continuing confidence demonstrated both by
our current investors and our new cornerstone investor, Invesco We are currently reviewing
financing offers for a new CircleManchester hospital as well as positioning ourselves to bid for
further NHS franchise management contracts We are encouraged by the emergence of these and
other NHS epportunities, including individual service lines and the delivery of integrated hospital and
community care

Leadership and Board changes

Earher this year Circle’s CEQ and co-founder, Al Parsa, moved to a Non-Executive role on the Board
in order to pursue other entrepreneunal ambitions, and we asked the then Head of Mabilisation,
Steve Melton, to assume the position of Intenim Chief Executive Over the past three months Steve
has led the team with distinction and the Board was delighted recently to canfirm his appointment
to the CEO role on a formal and continuing basis The Board and | would like to express gratitude for
Al's invaluable contribution over many years, and admiration for his founding vision and drive
Circle’s talented executive team and strong platform 1s a legacy of his stewardship

In other Board changes, we said farewell to Jamie Wood, and welcomed Tony Bromovsky to the
Board Tony brings with him a wealth of business and entrepreneunal experience and 15 already
making a substantive contribution as an integral Board member.

The Partnership

The contribution of our Partnership of chinicians and staff 1s fundamental to our success Our
enviable track record on quality 1s down to their dedication to delivering the best possible patient
care, and our reputation for efficient operations is due to their active participation in the
management of their facilities At Circle, ‘partnership’ has always meant working together as a team,
with shared values, towards comman goals, trusting clinicians on the front ine, and giving everyone
a stake in our success

The Board 1s eager to ensure the continued engagement and motivation of clinicians and staff, and 1s
therefore consulting with its shareholders around the efficacy of the current partnership
incentivisation




The Board has noted that the Group structure I1s relatively complex, reflecting various challenges
faced in the early years, which included designing an effective employee ownership mechanism and
incorporating a property development capability Some progress has been made on this front, with
the decrease in the number of legal entities and with Circle Holdings being brought onshore for tax
purposes at the time of the AIM-listing in 2011 However, the Board remains highly focused on
structurat smphfication and improved transparency across the Group

Looking forward

We believe that our common-sense approach of putting doctars and nurses in charge of tackling the
problems that the NHS faces — tighter budgets, a growing elderly population, and an ever increasing
focus on the quality of care provided by the current structure — means we are well placed for the
future With increased scrutiny of NHS hospitals facing quality and financial challenges, we believe
epportunities will emerge for players who can help the NHS achieve its aims with new solutions that
increase efficiency, improve quality and change culture

Our focus in the year ahead is to build on the strong foundations we have laid by demonstrating how
we can transform the quality and costs of care through empowerment of frantline doctors and
nurses While this witl continue to demand investment, we are confident that patients — and all
other stakeholders — will see the value, iInnovation and service that our approach delivers against a
backdrop of tighter budgets tn the NHS, alongside the demographic challenge posed by an ageing
population

Our vision, modef and platform are now well established, and | am confident that the Company can
deltiver on its plans In the year ahead

Michael Kirkwood, CMG
Chairman
17 April 2013 ,




Chief Executive Officer’s report

Business review

It 15 a privilege to present the Group’s Chief Executive statement | would like to join the Chairman in
paying tribute to the enormous contribution of my predecessor, Als Parsa Our rapid growth and
current track record in innovative healthcare delivery owe much to his founding wiston and
entrepreneurial drive

In 2012 Circle made significant progress in our mission to transform healthcare inthe UK With the
start of our contract to run Hinchingbrooke Hospital, the opening of our second new-build hospital,
and successful participation tn a re-tendering process for our Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre
contract, we are showing how our approach of putting doctors and nurses in charge raises the
quality of care, delivers value and sparks innovation We are pleased to report that overall
performance remains in line with market expectations, with better than projected consolidated
revenues and operating profits before exceptional items for the year ended 31 Decermnber 2012

Performance

We were delighted to be selected as the preferred bidder to provide renewed services at the
Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years This result ts a vote of confidence in our
madel of clinical leadership and employee engagement, and testament to the talent and
commitment of our frontline clinicians, who were heavily involved in the assembly of our bid
Following our Hinchingbrooke win last year, this contract cements our first-mover advantage in
independent NHS provision of services through an innovative approach to integrating hospital and
community care

CircleBath has seen steady growth in revenue and patient volumes, with year on year increases of
28% and 40%, respectively Whilst a strategy to increase private revenues substantially has seen
some progress, there 1s now a renewed focus on securing improved margins

Our second new-build hospital, CircleReading, opened in August 2012, and has had a strong first five
months, delivening the majonty of i1ts committed private revenue and gaining significant market
share It has created a £10 million run-rate business within six months of opening At the same time,
it has quickly matched other Circle facilities in achieving high levels of patient satisfaction Lessons
from the commissioning of CircleBath are being applied continuously to CircleReading operations

In regard to our NHS hospital contract, the year ended 31 December concluded the first eleven
months of operations at Hinchingbrooke, and we were gratified that our model has delivered strong
performance across a range of indicators The projected annual deficit of £10 milhon wall this year be
reduced to £3 7 mullion, in hne with market expectations Through our transformation programme,
we have also secured approximately 7% annualised savings against a £100 million budget, including
a 50% decrease in locum costs

in the year ahead, we will be focusing on overcoming Hinchingbracke’s historic financial problems
by achieving a sustainable break-even positian, and making CircleBath and CircleReading
economically sustainable by continuing to grow revenues and patient volumes




Quaiity

The strong thread running through all of our current facilities and future plans 1s our commitment to
providing the best possible patient care Qur founding credo describes us as ‘the agents of our
patients’, and speaks of ‘exceeding their expectations every time’ Our proudest achievement 15 the
consistently high levels of patient satisfaction recorded in feedback, which averages 99 6% in Circle
built and commissioned facilities We were delighted that CircleBath was awarded the Bath Business
Award for ‘Customer Service’ for the second consecutive year, beating stiff competition from luxury
hotels in the region

In our Hinchingbrooke contract we have made improving patient care our top prionty During our
first few months, we focused on fixing areas of patient care that we judged to be sub-standard or
unsafe Sice then, the hospital has consistently ranked amaongst the top of the regional health
authority’s independent ratings of 46 1n the Midlands and East region, including top ten for patient
experience [n addition, it has been named as one of the five most improved hospitals in the country
for patient safety, with a 60% year on year reduction in clinical incidents We have also established a
new culture of transparency that has achieved a 13-fald increase in the number of patient feedback
forms We ensure all concerns are addressed promptly by publishing feedback verbatim online in a
TripAdwisor’ style initiative, and so far this has led to the scrapping of parking fines, an overhaul of
menus, the installation of free patient television systems, and the introduction of bedside handovers
on nursing shifts

Strategy and Outlook

We remain focused on a strategy of transforming healthcare by innovating in both the public and
private spheres of UK healthcare Qur experience to date shows that many opportunities exist to
improve the provision of healthcare in the UK At Hinchingbrocke, in a relatively short space of time
we have shown what can be achieved by putting doctors and nurses in charge the quality of care
goes up, the costs of bureaucracy go down, and an environment 1s created which stimulates
Innavation and initiative

We won our bid to renew the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre contract on the back of innovative
proposals for integrating care between the Treatment Centre and the community, and believe that
the contract will enable us to gain unique expertise in this area

On top of that, we are participating in the Competition Commission inquiry into the private
healthcare industry, and remain optimistic that its recommendations will tackle many of the barriers
to entry that we have encountered in the hospital sector

A clear strategy, proven results and, above all, our ability to unleash innovation by putting doctors
and nurses in charge, mean we are confident that Circle wiff continue to grow in the years ahead

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
17 Apnil 2013




Operational overview
Private

CircleBath

CircleBath, the Group’s first new-build independent hospital which opened in March 2010, has
performed well on many fronts Having completed its third year of operations, CircleBath has
continued to show impressive growth with the number of patients treated in 2012 up to 46,340, an
increase of 39 7% (2011 33,174) Revenues grew by 28 1% to £15,644,000 (2011 £12,217,000},
driven by an Iincrease in the number of specialties offered to private and NHS patients Spinal and
neurosurgery have seen the greatest growth following their introduction in the early part of 2012 In
addition, there has been an increase in new consultant partners from a wider catchment area

At the same time, high levels of patient satisfaction have been maintained with an average
recommendation of 99 9% for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011 98 3%) True to the Group’s
belief that “hospitals can be better”, the Group is pleased that for a second year runrung, CircleBath
has been awarded the Bath Business Award for “Customer Service”, beating stiff competition from
some of the best five star hotels in the country Furthermore, CircleBath was the only independent
healthcare finalist in the cancer leadership category of the Nursing Times awards

In 2012, CircleBath has continued to play an active role in both the healthcare and local community
CircleBath became a training site for student nurses, student radiographers and student
physiotherapists and ran, with enthusiastic invalvement from staff and Consultant Partners, a
number of successful work experience programmes and internships aimed at young people thinking
about a career in healthcare

CircleReading

CircleReading, Circle’s second new-build independent hospital, opened in August 2012 on time and
on budget It has had a strong first five months, delivering a significant portion of its committed
revenue, and produced record revenues of just under £1,000,000 in the month of November

CircleReading has welcomed 11,599 patients to the hospital, generating revenues of £3,221,000
predominately from privately-insured and self-pay patients NHS activity commenced in the fourth
quarter of 2012 and 15 expected to increase steadily during 2013

An operating loss of £7,477,000 was recorded for 2012 Included in this loss are the pre-opening
costs of commissioning the hospital, which were substantially lower than budget following
efficiencies learned and executed from the commissioning of Circle's first new-build hospital,
CircleBath

At the same time, CircleReading has achieved high levels of patient satisfaction, with an average
patient recommendation of 99 6% in 2012

The Group 1s now focused on growing 1ts private and self-pay activity whilst also delivering a steady
increase In NHS patient procedures




NHS
Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre

Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre, one of the largest day case centres in Europe, has
continued to perform well in 2012 Revenue has increased by 4 2% to £53,317,000 (2011
£51,185,000}, despite a modest increase of 0 8% in overall velumes At the same time, operating
profit has increased by 14 2% to £2,725,000 (2011 £2,390,000)

As with Circle’s independent facilities, the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre has achieved high
quality metrics, with patient recommendation averaging 99 4% n 2012 and unplanned transfers
being 4 5 times lower than the national Independent Sector Treatment Centre threshold

Furthermore, Circle 1s delighted to have been selected as the preferred bidder by NHS
commissioners to provide renewed services at the Treatment Centre for a further five years from
July 2013, subject to completion of the final contract The decision to award preferred bidder status
to Circle follows a seven month tender process managed by NHS Midlands and East’s Strategic
Projects Team on behalf of Principia Rushcliffe Chimical Commissioning Group, and 1s a testament to
the Company's model of chnical leadership and employee engagement

The Group 1s planning to adopt an innovative integrated care pathway approach with some elements
undertaken in a community setting In addition, the Group intends to introduce a ten-bed inpatient
facility to enhance services currently offered by certain specialties

Hinchinghrooke Health Care NHS Trust

On 1 February 2012, the Group commenced operations at Hinchingbrooke, the first NHS hospital to
be managed by the independent sector The contract will see the Group manage an estimated £1
billion of revenue aver the ten year contract pertod Under the terms of the contract, the Group has
agreed to make working capital contrnibutions of up to £5,000,000 and will share surpluses generated
over the term of the contract with the Trust The contract allows either party to terminate if
Hinchingbrooke incurs more than £5,000,000 in aggregate deficits, at which point the Group 15 also
required to pay a further £2,000,000 in termination costs to Hinchingbrooke

The Group 15 pleased to report strong performance across a range of indicators The projected
underlying annual deficit of £10,000,000 in the financial year ending 31 March 2013, that was
originally projected by the Trust, has been reduced to £3,700,000, which is broadly in hine with our
expectations At the same time, the Trust has dehvered significant improvements in patient
satisfaction, Acadent and Emergency waiting times and follow-up times for cancer treatment

We will now continue cur unrelenting focus on improving the Trust’s finances and quality of care to
achieve our goal of making Hinchingbrooke one of the top 10 District General Hospitals in the
country




Chief Financial Officer’s report

Financial review

Introduction

We are delighted with the progress made by the Group in pursuing its objectives, and the ensuing
results for the year The Group has delivered results with better than projected consolidated
revenues and operating profits before exceptional items The commencement of the contract to
manage Hinchingbroake in February, together with the opening of CircleReading in August, were
two important events in the evolution of the Group These significant milestones, combined with the
£47,500,000 (before fees) fundraising in June puts the Group on a sohd trajectory to continue to
deliver an its plans for the coming years

Group Results
Revenue under management of £170,400,000 and revenue from continuing facihities of £73,200,000

mark a significant uphft on the previous year’s results The Group ends the year with a cash paosittan
of £38,000,000 (including £5,100,000 of restricted cash)

Year to Year to
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
£°000 £'000
Revenue under management* (continuing facilities**) 170,403 64,618
Group revenue (continuing faciities**) 73,246 64,618
Group revenue 73,246 74,607
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amorusation ['EBITDA'}
before exceptional items*** [note 6) {14,180) (13,633)
Total operating loss before exceptional items*** (note 6) (17,974) (17,133)
Operating loss {29,306) (18,546)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the financial year {30,424) (32,311)
Net assets 42,727 26,184
* includes revenue generated at Hhinchinghrooke which s managed by the Group, but not included in the Group's
consohdated revenue
** Defined as those continuing as at 31 December 2012, which excludes Circle's Burton NHS Treatment Centre
hhdd Exceptronal items in the year ended 31 December 2012 of £11,332,000 (2011 £1,413,000] consist largely of

tmpairments to property, plant and equipment, write-off of the debtor balance with the joint venture, provisions
in respect of VAT, write-off of CircleReading pre-opening expenses, revaluation of finance lease payments, share-
based charges in respect of warrants and shares issued, increases in onerous lease provisions and restructuring
costs incurred during the year

The Group has continued to deliver growth in its core operations, with revenue of £73,246,000
delivering a year on year increase of 13 4% in continuing facilities pnimanly resulting from the on-
going growth at CircleBath and the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre, endorsing the concept of
chnician engagement in healthcare Our new facility, CircleReading, started impressively, exceeding
planned patient attendances in the five months after opening, and contributed revenues of
£3,221,000




Patient procedures (excluding Hinchingbrooke)

Continuing Continuing

faciities facilities

Yearto Year to

31 December 31 December
2012 2011 Change

Number Number*
Day case and inpatients 35,801 32,850 90%
Outpatients 111,490 89,008 253%
Total procedures 147,291 121,858 209%

> The number of procedures in the year to 31 December 2011 exclude Circle's Burton NHS Treatment Centre, to

enable a companson of the Group's continuing facilities (defined as those existing at 31 December 2012}

Overall patient procedures in continuing Circle facilities increased by 20 9% to 147,291 procedures
CircleBath continued to show significant growth with the number of procedures up 39 7% to 46,340
(2011 33,174) The increase In patient procedures in continuing facilities 1s also attributable to the
impressive performance of CircleReading, which has performed 11,599 procedures since opening th
August 2012 Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre continued to see strong patient volumes,
with total day case procedures increasing by 3 5% to 27,700 Crucially, the increases in patient
numbers visiting Circle facilities have been achieved while also increasing patient satisfaction, which
now averages 99 6%

Group EBITDA {before exceptional items) on continuing facilities improved by 8 4% from a loss of
£15,500,000 to a loss of £14,200,000, primarily driven by improved operating results at CircleBath,
Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre and further cost efficiencies in the Group

The Group generated an operating loss before exceptional items of £17,974,000, an increase of 4 9%
on the previous year’s result The increase in the Group’s operating result was impacted by the loss
of the contract to run the Burton NHS Treatment Centre in July 2011 and CircleReading overhead
costs prior 1o 1ts opening

Loss hefore tax was up 7 6% to £30,430,000 and the loss per share now stands at 25 7 pence,
improved from a loss per share in 2011 of 64 4 pence

Exceptional Items

The Group recognised some key exceptional items in the year

After a review of its treatment of VAT for pnor periods, the Group has made a £1,500,000 provision
relating predominantly to inaccuracies in the 2008-10 period The Group continues to conduct
further analysis with the aim of finalising its position during 2013 and 1s In consultation with HM
Revenue and Customs ('HMRC’} on the outcomes of this review

furthermore, the Group has impaired the carrying value of its land in Manchester by £2,200,000 and
made a provision of £1,600,000 for histonic balances due from its Bath property joint venture In
comphance with accounting standards that require the Group to consider the current value of
discounted cash flows over the near term, the Group has written off the commissioning asset
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(approximately £2,100,000) relating to its CircleReading facility as a one-off exceptional item {note
14) The overall cash commissianing cost for CircleReading has remained unchanged and under
budget for 2012

Exceptional finance income of £866,000 (2011 expense of £10,097,000 predominantly due to the
AlM-listing) was recorded Exceptional finance charges were primarily due to costs associated with
the repayment of the JCAM loan offset by fair value adjustments on interest rate swaps i the year

Financing

In June 2012 the Group successfully raised £47,500,000 (before fees) by way of equity funding The
proceeds from this fundraise have been used, in part, to pay down the entire £14,100,000 loan owed
to JCAM, and complete the commussioning of CircleReading and the commencement of the
Hinchingbrocke contract Funds have also been used for the general working capital requirements of
the Group, In particular CircleBath The Group 1s encouraged by the emergence of further NHS
opportunities and would consider the requirements for further capital depending on the
opportunities presented

The Group continues to seek financing for Circle Manchester and the independent hospital
development pipeline and are currently in discussions with real-estate investors for a potential
financing solution

Cashflow

Net cash outflow from operating activities reduced by 27 9% to £16,989,000 (2011 outflow of
£23,575,000} reflecting the improvement in the underlying performance of the Group Net debt has
also fallen from £42,354,000 to £23,471,000 at year end, despite funding CircleReading’s start-up
phase

During the year, the Group invested £1,400,000 in developing the Circle Operating System and
supporting the development of the IT infrastructure across all sites to improve the stability and
effectiveness of chnical and management information

The Group’s interest expense In the year was reduced by 50 4% to £2,998,000 (2011 £6,040,000)
following the repayment of the JCAM loan, which had been accruing interest at 25% per annum

Restructuring

The Group continues to focus on meeting its objectives in line with the current strategy and recently
undertook a restructure of 1ts head office to ensure the cost base remams in line with operational
requirements This will result in projected annual run-rate savings between £2,000,000 and
£3,000,000, with an expected restructure charge of £500,000 in 2013

The Group completed the migration of specialist surgical services from its Circlewindsor clinic to 1its
CircleReading facility in March 2013

Financial risks

The Group’s operations expose 1t to a vanety of financial nisks that include working capital and
funding nisk, contract risk and price sk The Group has implemented a comprehensive strategic
planning and budgeting system to monitor and limit the adverse effects of the abave risks, the




results of which are presented to and approved by the Board Management and the Board monitor
performance against budget and key financial benchmarks through monthly reporting routines,
detalled business reviews and varnance analysis

Working capital and funding risk

Working capital and funding risk 1s the nisk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial habilities or be unable to obtain sufficient funding to pursue its
growth plans and expansion opportunities The Group aims to mitigate this risk by robustly
managing cash generation across its operations through detalled budgeting and tight cost control, as
well as applying cash collection targets throughout the Group Where the need arises, significant
cost savings are made in the short-term by reducing Head Office costs The Group s also backed by
leading UK institutronal investors that have provided finance through several financing rounds over
the last eight years

Contract risk

Contract risk 1s the risk that the Group 1s unable to renew the NHS contracts at the end of their fixed
tenure The Group aims to mitigate this nsk by maintaining good relationships with contracting
parties and actively pursuing contract renewals and extensions ahead of time The Group has
recently been selected as the preferred bidder by NHS commussioners to provide renewed services
at the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years commencing from July 2013 The
Group also commenced a 10 year contract in February 2012 to run Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS
Trust in Huntingdonshire

Price risk

The Group generally seeks to price contracts at levels that take account of increasing prices and,
where appropriate, establish contract terms that enable revenues to be adjusted as a result of any
future increasing price levels As the volume of private patients 1s anticipated to increase, the Group
will be increasingly subject to pricing changes from private insurance companies

) S

Paolo Pien
Chief Financial Officer
17 Apnif 2013
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Board of Directors

Michael Kirkwood, CMG, Non-Executive Chairman (b}, (c)*

Michaelis an Economics and Industnial Engineenng graduate of Stanford University and a Fellow of
the Chartered Institute of Bankers He joined the Board of Circle Holdings plc as Chairman in June
2011 He s additionally Serior Adwvisor {formerly Chairman) of Ondra Partners LLP and a Non-
Executive Director of UK Financial Investments Limited {(UKFl), AngloGold Ashanti Limited, Eros
International plc and an Ementus Director (formerly Chairman) of British American Business Inc
Michael joined Citigroup in 1977 from where he retired at the end of 2008 Prior to Citigroup, he
spent a number of years in Asia with Bowater-Ralli Group having started his career at HSBC He was
previously a Non-Executive Director and Audit Commuttee Chair of Kidde plc and Deputy Chairman of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s Advisory Board He 1s a member of the Advisory Board of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers and a Patron of poverty housing chanty Habitat for Humanity
During his City career he served as Deputy Chairman of the British Bankers Association, President of
the Chartered Institute of Bankers, Chairman of the Association of Foreign Banks, and as a member
of the CBI's Financial Services Councl A former H M Lieutenant for the City of London in 2004,
Michael was appointed a Companion of the Order of St Michael & St George (CMG} in the Queen’s
2003 Birthday Honours

Steve Melton, Chief Executive Officer

Steve was appointed as the interim Chief Executive Officer in December 2011 after previously
holding the role of Head of Mobilisation and Operations since joining Circle in 2008 This
appointment was confirmed on a formal and continuing basis in April 2013 Steve has over 22 years
of expenience leading large scale operations Prior to Circle, he was the Supply Chain Director at
Argos, where he led a number of operational iImprovement programmes Previously, he was Supply
Chain Director at Scottish Courage Limited, managing over 3,000 staff and a £165,000,000 cost base
He began his career on Unilever's Management Tratnee Programme, and has held a number of roles
at Unilever, Elida Faberge and ASDA Steve holds an MA {First Class) in Chemical Engineering from
the University of Cambnidge

Paolo Pieri, Chief Financial Officer

Paolo joined Circle after spending over five years at lastminute com He spent the majority of this
time as the UK Finance Director and subsequently took on a number of operational roles including
the Managing Director of some European divisions Prior to this, Paolo spent seven years in the
Virgin organisation, principally within the retail and cinema operattons, where he spent three years
as Finance Director of the Virgin Megastare business He has a Bachelor of Accountancy degree from
the University of Glasgow and 1s a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants for Scotland

Massoud Fouladi, Chief Medical Officer

Massoud 1s a co-founder of Circle As Chief Medical Director, his vision has been to build a co-owned
and climcally-led partnership of doctors, nurses, managers and other healthcare professionals
Massoud graduated from Bristol Medical School in 1930 and completed his ophthalmology training
at Birmingham and Midland Eye Centre in 1999 He was also awarded a Masters in Health Services
Management by Birmingham Health Services Management Centre in 1998 As a consultant in East
Kent, he was involved in redesigming ophthalmic services for the region, which became a national
maodel for service redesign In 2001, he founded the Ophthalmic Clinical Leads Forum at the King’s
Fund He was Chairman of the Association of Ophthalmologists UK from 2003 to 2007 He remains
an active consultant specialising in ophthalmic surgery
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Lorraine Baldry, OBE, Senior Non-Executive Director {Independent) {(a), (b)*, (c)

Lorraine 1s Chairman of London and Continental Rallways Limited, Inventa Partners Limited and Tri-
Air Developments Limited She 1s also a Board member of the Glympic Delivery Authority She was
previously senior independent Non-Executive Director of DTZ Holdings plc, and Chairman of the
London Thames Gateway Development Corporation Prior to that Lorraine was Chief Executive of
Chesterton International plc, a senior advisor at Morgan Stanley, investment banking division, and
Managing Director and a member of the Executive Committee of Regus Lorraine joined Regus from
Prudential Corporation where she held a number of pasts including Managing Director of Prudential
Corparate Pensions, Chief Operating Officer of Prudential Portfolio Managers (now M&G) and
Managing Director of 1ts property investment diviston She was awarded an OBE in the Queen’s
Jubilee Honours and 1s an Honorary Member of the Rayal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a
past president of the British Property Federation

Tony Bromovsky, Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent}

Tony joined the Board of Circle Holdings plc in November 2012 Tony is also a director of Kilda
Investments Limited (since 1991), a corporate finance company he set up that advised on and
arranged investments in a variety of ventures in Eastern Europe, and (since 2012) s a director of
Local World Limited, a local media business that has a portfolio of market-leading print and digital
brands Prior to this, Tony was a director of BHE Limited, a UK healthcare company set up in 1999
that secured and managed a number of long-term LIFT contracts for the development of major
infrastructure projects in partnership with the NHS

Tony started his career as a commodities trader for Lowis Dreyfus in 1974, followed by simifar roles
at Woodhouse Drake and Carey and Drexel Burnham Lambert, where he was Senior Vice President
and Director of Commodities Trading During this period he was also Deputy Chairman of the London
Commodity Exchange Tony graduated from the University of Toronto in 1972 with an Honours
degree in General Arts

Tim Bunting, Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent)

Tim has been a General Partner of Balderton Capital since 2007 He was previously a partner of
Goldman Sachs where he spent 18 years At Goldman Sachs, Tim held various roles including Global
Head of Equity Capital Markets (2002-2005) and Vice Chairman of Geldman Sachs International
(2005-2006) Tim 1s a governor of Wellington College and the Wellington Academy and a trustee of
the Rainbow Trust children's charity and the Paul Hamlyn Foundation Tim s a graduate of the
University of Cambnidge

Peter Cornell, Non-Executive Director (Independent} (a), (b}, (c)

Peter Is a partner of Metnic Capital and a director of Cornell Partners Limited He was previously the ,
Managing Director for stakeholder relations at Terra Firma and global Managing Partner of Chfford '
Chance, one of the world’s leading international law firms with over 3,500 lawyers in 30 offices In

his career at Clifford Chance, Peter managed offices in Asia, the UK, the US and continental Europe

Peter has an honours degree in Economics & History from the University of Exeter He was elected

'Lawyer of the Year' by Legal Business in 2007 He was formerly a Council Member of the BVCA and

Vice-Chairman of the BVCA's Global Buyout Committee He i1s currently a member of the

International Advisory Board of the Madrid Business School

Ali Parsa, Non-Executive Director [Non-Independent)

Al is a social entrepreneur who co-founded Circle in 2004 Al stepped down from the position of
Chief Executive Officer at the end of 2012 Prior to Circle, Als was an Executive director of Goldman
Sachs’ European technology investment banking team He also worked at Mernll Lynch and Credit
Suisse First Boston
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He has a PhD in Engineering Physics from the University of London Al won the award for
Entrepreneurial Achievement in the 2010 Independent Healthcare Awards and was named in the
100 most influential people 1n UK healthcare in the Health Service Journal’s annual survey in 2010
and by the Times as one of the 100 people to watch in 2012 Al 1s a member of the Employee
Ownership Association National Council, chairman of the CBI Healthcare Panel and a member of the
CBI Public Sector Services Board

Andrew Shilston, Non-Executive Director (Independent) (a}*, (b), (c)

Andrew graduated from the University of Oxford in 1977 with an MA n Engineering Sciences and 1s a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales and a Fellow of the
Association of Corporate Treasurers Andrew joined Rolls-Royce Group plc in 2002 and was
appointed Group Finance Director in 2003 where he rematned until 2011 He was Finance Director at
Enterprise Oil plc from 1993 to 2002 Andrew was an independent Non-Executive Director of Cairn
Energy plc between 2004 and 2008, and i1s currently Chairman of Morgan Advanced Matenals plc
and Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of BP plc

(a) Member of Audit and Risk Committee
(b} Member of Remuneration Committee
(c) Member of Nomination Committee

* Denotes Chair of respective Committee
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their Annual Report and audited financial statements for the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2012

The Group financial statements consolhidate the financial statements of Circle Holdings plc (the
'Company') and its subsidiary undertakings (‘subsidianies'), including the Group's quasi subsidiary
undertaking, Circle Partnership Limited (‘Circle Partnership’) and the Group’s joint venture of Health
Properties {Bath) Limited (‘Health Properties Bath’), drawn up to 31 December 2012 Together these
make up 'Circle’ or the 'Group’

Principal activities

The Group Is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, treating privately insured, self-pay and NHS-
funded patients The Group’s business strategy 15 founded on the fundamental belief that the best
way to deliver great patient care 1s to empower the doctors, nurses and everyone who works in the
hospitals, treatment centres and clinics, to put patients’ needs first This empowerment is drven
through Circle Partnership, which 1s co-owned by the clinicians and employees warking at Circle
faciities CPL owns 49 9% of the Group’s aperating subsidiaries

Business review

The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business review can be found in the Qperating
and financial review an pages 7 to 12 Information on environmental matters, employees,
community and social 1ssues 1s given in the report on corporate governance on pages 20 to 24

Results and dividends

The loss and total comprehensive loss for the financial year attributable to owners of the parent
amounted to £25,426,000 (2011 £28,693,000) The Directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividends (2011 £nil)

Cash flow

The total cash balance at 31 December 2012 15 £38,029,000 (2011 £26,004,000) of which
£32,929,000 (2011 £22,729,000) relates to unrestricted cash Net cash used in operating activities
totalled £16,536,000 (2011 £26,161,000)

Share capital and control

As at 31 December 2012, the Company's authorised share capital comprised 250,000,000 {2011
100,000,000} ordinary shares of £0 02 each, of which 130,706,657 (2011 62,771,049) (note 23) were
in 1ssue Shareholders are entitled to receive the Company's Annual Report and financial statements,
to attend and speak at General Meetings, to appoint proxies and exercise voting rghts The
Company's ordinary shares do not carry any special rights with regard to control of the Company

The appointment and replacement of Directors 1s governed by the Campany's Articles of Association
Any changes to the Articles of Association must be approved by the shareholders in accordance with
the legislation in force at the time The Directors have authority to 1ssue and allot ordinary shares
pursuant to Article 7 of the Company's Articles of Association

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

it 1s the Group's and Company's policy to abide by the payment terms agreed with suppliers
wherever it 1s satisfied that the supplier has provided goods and services in accordance with agreed
terms and conditions A number of significant purchases and commitments under operating leases
are paid by direct debit At 31 December 2012, the Group had 51 equivalent days {2011 51 days) of
purchases outstanding and the Company had 33 equivalent days (2011 19 days)
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At 31 December 2012, trade creditors in the Group and Company were £9,128,000 and £250,000
respectively (2011 £9,646,000 and £143,000)

Going Concern

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of 18 months from the date of signing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 These forecasts have been prepared
on the cash flows from the existing operating businesses to include the following assumptions

. CircleBath and CircleReading revenue and margin growth assumptions, and
. Awarding of the new Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre contract on revised terms

If sensitivities to the Group business forecasts were to matenalise, management believe that it could
mitigate these by undertaking some combination of the following

. Utilisation of contingencies built into the business plan,
. Head office cost savings, and
. The sale of some property asset holdings

While the Directors are confident that the Group and Company can continue to meet their working
capital requirements over the next 12 to 18 months, any sighificant deviations from the forecasts
will impact an the sufficiency of working capital and this represents a matertal uncertainty that casts
significant doubt upon the Group’s and Company's ability to continue as a going concern

Nevertheless, the Directors believe that, based on its current business plan, the Group and Company
have adequate resources to continue 1n operational existence As such, the Directors consider it
appropriate for these financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis The financial
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group and Company were unable
to continue as a going concern

Events after the Balance Sheet date

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Under the terms of the Hinchingbrooke franchise agreement, Circle Hinchingbrooke Limited 15
required to make support payments to Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust in the event that the
Trust projects a negative cashflow position In accordance with this obligation, the Group made a
support payment to the Trust of £3 7m at the end of January 2013 to ensure the Trust remains in
surplus for the financial year ending 31 March 2013

Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre Contract Win

The Group has been selected as the preferred bidder by NHS commissioners to provide renewed
services at the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years commencing from luly
2013 The Group's appointment 1s subject to completion of final contract terms, which 1s expected
by the end of the second quarter of 2013 The decision to select Circle as the preferred bidder
follows a seven month tender process managed by NHS Midlands and East's Strategic Projects Team
on behalf of Principia Rushchffe Clinical Commussioning Group The expected contract value for
delivering core services will be circa £15 million annually with additional services expected to be
prownided under the Any Qualified Prowder framework
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AIB / Edinburgh loan

Allied Insh Bank (‘AlB’) and Health Properties (Edinburgh) Limited (‘Health Properties Edinburgh’)
have agreed a seres of steps where AIB will take possession of the Edinburgh property and Health
Properties Edinburgh will thereafter be dissolved on a consensual basis This agreement was reached
following discussrons with AIB and taking into consideration the value of the property and the fact
that the Circle Group holds no equity in the property Current expectation is that Health Properties
Edinburgh will be dissolved during the fourth quarter of 2013

West London

Nations Healthcare West London LLP {*Nations’) has exercised therr right to terminate the lease of
1010 Great West Road (‘the Property’) on 4 April 2013 Circle 1s awaiting acknowledgment from the
recewers of the Property (appointed by Lloyds Bank in February 2012} in respect of this

Future developments

Operationally, the intention during the coming year 1s to increase the patient volumes treated at
each of the operating facilities, to raise the quality of care provided and to ensure that all facilities
are of a world class standard

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements
were as follows

Steve Melton Chief Executive Officer (appointed 3 April 2013)

Massoud Foulad) Chief Medical Officer

Paclo Piern Chief Financial Officer

Michael Kirkwood, CMG Non-Executive Chairman

Lorraine Baldry, OBE Senior Non-Executive Directar (Independent)

Peter Cornell Non-Executive Director {Independent)

Andrew Shilston Non-Executive Director {Independent)

Al Parsa Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent)

Tim Bunting Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent)

Jamie Wood Non-Executive Director {Non-Independent) (resigned 18 June 2012)

Tony Bromovsky Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent) (appointed 22
November 2012)

Biographies of the current Directors are detailed on pages 13 to 15 and Directors' beneficial interests
in the Group's share capital and warrants are detailled on pages 27 to 28 of the Directors'
remuneration report

Directors' indemnity

In 1ts Articles of Association, the Company has granted an indemnity to every present and former
officer in respect of proceedings brought by third parties The Company has procured hability
insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and all Group companies There are no
outstanding claims or provisions as at the balance sheet date

Donations
The Group made charitable donations totalling £2,000 (2011 £26,000) during the year to a number
of charitable organisations within the UK

No donation was made to any political party registered in the UK under the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000 by either the Company or its subsidiaries
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Principal nsks and uncertainties

Enterpnise risk identification and management

The Group has an effective system of risk management in terms of identifying risks and monitoring
actions to manage these nsks Further details of the Group's risk management process can be found
in the Report on corporate governance on pages 20 to 24

Risk 1s an unavoidable element of domng business The Group’s risk management system aims to
provide assurance to the Board regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk The
system includes the controlled prioritisation of issues, review of key operational metrics in relation
to clintcal outcomes, patient experience, staff engagement and value-for-money (together known as
the ‘quality quartet {QQY)' review), mitigation, shaning of best practice and effective cnisis
management

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with
a description, where relevant, of the mitigating actions in place

As with all medical prowiders, chinical risk 1s the paramount consideration The Group has an
Iintegrated governance structure which is overseen by the Chief Medical Officer, Dr Massoud Foulads,
who also sits on the Board This structure includes senior staff across the operational, chinical and
central support teams Each hospital site has its own local governance structure, whilst a team of
chinical care quahity speciahists s dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and
operational policies across all sites Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance
framework, manage day to day clinical risks through a risk register, provide appropreate training to
staff and consultants, and repart their findings to the Group's Integrated Governance Committee
{1GC’) {chaired by Dr Massoud Fouladi) The IGC prepares gquarterly written risk assurance reports to
the boards of the relevant Circle Group companies and the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee

Additionally, the Group’s hospitals, clinics and treatment centres are subject to Care Quality
Commussion {'CQC') reviews on a regular basis, including a review of training and risk management
procedures used at the sites

Government policy and regulatory risk

There are risks that palitical or policy changes may mean that the number and size of contracts
awarded to the Group are dimimished and that fewer services provided by the Group are contracted
New regulations may be introduced which could have an adverse effect on the Group's operational
and comphance costs In addition, the Group relies on the ability and willingness of government-
funded bodies such as CCGs and NHS Trusts to pay for the Group's services

Reputational risk

Reputational nsk associated with poor chmcal outcomes or patient satisfaction 1s mimigated by the
focus on providing high quality medical care at the Group’s facibties and constantly seeking to
improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC and the QQ reviews

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
17 April 2013
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Report on corporate governance

General

The Company, being quoted on AIM, I1s not required to comply with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the 'Code') Nevertheless, the Directors are committed to the highest
standards of corporate governance and have voluntanly comphed with the Code 1ssued by the
Financial Reporting Council where relevant and appropnate to the Company As envisaged by the
Code, the Board has established three committees an Audit and Risk Committee, a Remuneration |
Committee and a Nominations Committee In addition, the Board has authonised a Market
Disclosure Committee and the IGC, with the latter reporting into the Audit and Risk Committee
These committees operate within defined terms of reference, as determined by the Board, details of
which are publicly available at the Group's registered office The functions and responsibilities of
each committee are described below and the Chair and other members of the committees are listed
in the Board of Directors bsographies on pages 13 to 15

The Board

The Board of Directors compnses a Non-Executive Chairman, three independent Non-Executive
Directors, three non-independent Nan-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors {Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Medical Officer and Chief Financial Officer) The profiles of the current
Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are set out on pages 13 to 15 The Articles of
Association allow no fewer than three Directors

The Code recommends that the Board should comprise at least two Non-Executive Directors,
determined by the Board to be independent In character and judgement and free from relationships
or circeumstances which may affect, or could appear to affect, the Directors’ judgement The Board
considers that the Company complies with the requirements of the Code in this regard

The Non-Executive Directors contribute a wide range of skills and experience, forming a strong and
independent element within the Board The Non-Executive Directors receive a fixed fee for services
rendered, are appointed for an initial period of three years, which may be extended by agreement
with the Board, subject to re-election by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting {‘AGM’), and
are not employees of the Company at the time Their opinions carry significant weight in the
decision making process, both operational and financial, and they are free from any business or
personal relationships (other than as declared in the case of non-independent Non-Executive
Directors} that could interfere with their independent judgement The Non-Executive Directors
ensure that some meetings are set aside during the year without the Executive Directors present
Lorraine Baldry, OBE, 1s the nominated senior independent Non-Executive Director to whom
shareholders, Directors and employees may bring concerns which normal channels have failed to .
resolve or are otherwise not appropriate

The Chairman 1s responsible for leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects
of the role, including

managing the Board,
ensuring that sufficient time 15 aliowed for the discussion of complex or contentious issues,

* ensuring a regular evaluation of the performance of the Board as a whole, its committees
and individual Directors, and

s taking the lead in 1dentifying and meeting the development needs of individual Directors and
the Board as a whole
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The Board and its subcommittees meet at regular intervals throughout the year and has reserved for
its consideration matters including

the responsibility for the overall strategy of the Group,

significant capital expenditure projects, budget approval and any major financial proposals,
ensuring effective systems of internal control and risk management,

regulatory compliance,

approval of public announcements and communications with shareholders,

approval of the Annual Report and financial statements, and

remuneration of key senior employees

Detailed monthly operational, clinical and financial information 1s provided to the Board in a timely
manner to enable 1t to discharge its duties This includes infoermation on the histaric, budgeted and
forecast financial performance of the business as well as Key Performance Indicators ('KPIs’)
covering valumes, revenue and EBITDA, to allow the Board to challenge Group management
effectively A budget s agreed by the Board annually and performance against budget 1s reported
monthly

The Board ensures that all Directors receive appropriate training and induction, as required, and that
they are able to take independent professional advice in the furtherance of their duties The Board
may appoint a Director and revoke or terminate the appointment of a Director as it thinks fit Any
Director 50 appointed shall offer himself or herself for reappointment at the first AGM following
appointment and at each AGM thereafter The shareholders may also remove a Director by ordinary
resclution

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee’s role 15 to assist the Board with the discharge of its responstbilities in
relation to internal and external audits and controls, including reviewing the Group’s Annual Report
and financial statements, constdering the scope of the annual audit and the extent of the non-audit
work undertaken by external auditors, advising on the appointment of external auditers, reviewing
the effectiveness of the internal control systems in place within the Group and determining and
reviewing the nature and extent of the risks facing the Group The Audit and Risk Committee meets
not less than four times a year

The Code recommends that all members of the Audit and Risk Committee be Non-Executive
Directors and that the Committee 1s not chaired by the Chairman of the Board The Company
complies with the requirements of the Code In this regard

Reporting into the Audit and Risk Committee 1s the IGC which 1s chaired by the Chief Medtcal Officer,
Dr Massoud Fouladi, who also sits on the Board Further details are provided in the principal risks
and uncertainties section of the Directors’ report on pages 16 to 19

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee recommends policies the Group should adopt on executive
remuneration, determines the levels of remuneration for each of the Executive Directors and 15 also
invited to attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee of Circle Health Limited (‘Circle Health’')
The Remuneration Committee generates an annual remuneration report to be approved by the
members of the Company at the AGM The minutes of the Remuneration Committee are circulated
to, and reviewed hy, the Board The Remuneration Committee meets not less than twice a year and
the Directors’ remuneration report is set out on pages 25 to 28
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The Code recommends that all members of the Remuneration Committee be Non-Executive
Directors and the Company complies with the requirements of the Code in this regard

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Commuttee assists the Board in determining 1ts composition, desired balance of
skills and potential Board candidates as the need may arise, and formulates the succession plans for
the Chairman It recommends to the Board, in consultation with the Circle Partnership, the
succession plans for the Chief Executive Officer The Nominations Committee meets at least once a
year and whenever necessary to fulfil its responsibhties

The Code recommends that a majority of the Nominations Commuttee be Non-Executive Directors
and the Group comphes with the requirements of the Code n this regard

Market Disclosure Committee

The Market Disclosure Committee assists the Group in meeting 1ts obligations to announce price
sensitive and other significant information and dectde quickly whether an announcement obligation
has ansen under the AIM Rules for Companies and related legislation

The Code does not require companies to have a Market Disclosure Committee but the Directors
constder It best practice to have such a committee

Performance evaluation and attendance

The Board has undertaken a formal evaluation of 1ts own performance and that of its committees
through the circulation and completion of a comprehensive questionnaire Having considered the
results of the questionnaire, the directors have concluded that the Board and its Committees
continue to function effectively and that the other commitments of the Chairman and directors are
such that all directors are capable of devoting sufficient time to the Company

Attendance by the Directors at the various committees during the year was as follows

Board Audht and Risk Rermuneration Nominaton  Ad hac & short
Commutiee Committee Committee notice
meetings
Lorraine Baldry, OBE 9 4 6 2 6
Tony Bromovsky * 1 n/a nfa n/a
Tim Bunting ? 9 n/fa 1 nfa 6
Pater Cornell 9 4 6 2 6
Massoud Fouladi 9 nfa n/fa nfa 6
Michael Kirkwood, CMG 9 nfa 6 2 6
Ali Parsa 9 nfa nfa n/fa 6
Paolo Pien 9 4 nfa nfa 6
Andrew Shilston ? 9 4 5 1 6
Jamie Wood * 4 nfa nfa nfa 6
Total meetings held 9 4 6 2 [

1 Tony Bromovsky was appointed to the Board on 22 November 2012

2 Tim Bunting stood down from the Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2012

3 Andrew Shilston was appointed to the Remuneration and Nomination Committees on 1 February 2012

4 jamie Wood resigned from the Board on 18 June 2012

5 Steve Melton was appointed as a Director on 3 Apnil 2013 and has therefore been excluded from the above table
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Relations with shareholders

The Company maintains a regular dialogue with fund managers, other investors and analysts, usually
following the announcement of intenm and final results, to ensure that the investing community
recewes a balanced and consistent view of the Group's performance The principal documents
received by shareholders are the Interim report, Annual Report and financial statements, and any
airculars as appropriate The Company's AGM provides an opportunity to respond to shareholders'
questions

Employee involvement

Curcle 1s a sacially respansible emplayer and vanous initiatives are in place to ensure that staff are
treated fairly as they are critical to its chnical, commercial and operational success Communication
is cnitical to employee relations and the Group uses bi-weekly business updates with all sites present
via tele-conference to ensure employees are fully informed about plans and progress
Communicattons from the Human Resources Department notify all staff of any changes to personnel
during the year Semi-annual offsite meetings are held for management and Directors to review
strategy implementation and key business opportunities Semi-annual performance reviews are
conducted for employees and individual training and development needs are 1dentified to ensure
staff receive supplementary training

The Company’s principal subsidiary, Circle Health, is co-owned by the Group’s employees and
chnicians who work in the Group’s facilities The Group encourages the involvement of employees in
the performance of the Group through participation in the share scheme operated by Circle
Partnership, a related Company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which holds 49 9% of the
share caprtal of Circle Health, the balance of which 1s indirectly owned by the Company For further
details see note 24 to the financial statements

Disabled employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
candidate’s particular aptitudes and abibties are consistent with adequately meeting the
requirements of the job Opportunities are available to disabled employees for training, career
development and promotion

Where existing employees become disabled, it 1s the Group’s policy to provide continuing
employment wherever practicable 1n the same or an alternative position and to provide appropriate
training to achieve this aim

Environmental matters

The services provided by the Group have minimal environmental impact However, the Board
believes that good environmental practices support the Group’s strategy by enhancing the
reputation of the Group and improving the efficiency of runming hospitals Consequently, the Group
continues to put environmental responsibilities high on the agenda

The Group and its employees try to ensure that both services and products are procured in an
environmentally friendly manner and that waste matenals are disposed of appropriately, including
recycling where economically possible The Group makes extensive use of electronic
communications to reduce the amount of printing waste produced Where appropriate, electronic
communication methods such as email, telephone and video conference facilities are used to avoid
non-essential travel The Group does not offer a Company car scheme to employees and encourages
Its employees to travel to work using public transport or a ‘bike-to-work’ scheme
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Ethical conduct

The Board 1s committed to uphold ethical conduct throughout the Group and has in place
confidential whistle blowing and anti-bribery policies that enable unresolved concerns to be
escalated to the Board's senior independent Non-Executive Director These policies are made
avallable to all employees via a web-based policy management system that enables periodic
maonitoring

Health and safety

The Group 1s committed to protecting and enhancing the health and safety of its employees and all
patients who are treated in the facilities it operates The Group operates a formal health and safety
risk assurance framework, which 1s regularly monitored by a dedicated health and safety officer who
provides monthly reports to the management teams at the operational level and quarterly reports
to the Group’s IGC Under the framework significant incidents are reported without delay to the
Board

Michael Kirkwood, CMG
Chairman
17 Apnl 2013
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Directors' remuneration report

Introduction
This report sets out the Group's remuneration policy and details of Directors remuneratton

Remuneration Committee
The members of the Remuneration Committee are set out on pages 13 to 15 and the role of the
Remuneration Committee Is set out (n the report on corporate governance on page 21

Remuneration policy

Executive remuneration packages are designed to attract, motivate and retain Directors and to
reward them for enhancing value to shareholders The performance measurement of the Executive
Directors and key members of senior management, and the determination of their annual
remuneration package, 15 undertaken by the Remuneration Committee The Board determines the
remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors

There are several elements to the remuneration policy

Basic salary

Executive Directors' base salaries are set by the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the
individual’s level of responsibility, experience and performance Salary levels are reviewed annually
In setting base salary levels, the Remuneration Committee also takes into account salary levels in
comparable companies

Pension scheme

The Group made contributions on behalf of Executive Directors during the year to a defined
contribution pension scheme which was introduced in March 2012 Previously no pension
contributions had been made

Taxable and other benefits
These include items such as private medical insurance and dental plans These benefits are in line
with the remuneration policy framework

Share ownership plan

Circle Partnership Limrted 1s an employee share ownership plan and currently owns 49 9% of the
shares in Circle Health Limited It enables the participants (including Executive Directars and Al
Parsa) who contribute to the success and growth in value of Circle Health to be owners of the
business The participants are 1ssued shares In Circle Partnership, which are held by the Circle
Partnership Benefit Trust Under the scheme, shares are awarded on deferred payment terms with
the purchase price for the shares becoming payable upon the accurrence of certain events, including
the completion of a sale of the shares by a participant The subscription price for the shares is the
Fair Market Value ('FMV') as determined by an independent valuation

Share i1ssue to Non-Executive Directors

On 18 June 2012 the Group issued, at nominal value, an aggregate of 78,465 ordinary shares of

£0 02 each in the capital of the Company (‘Ordinary Shares’) to the following Non-Executive
Directors pursuant to individual share awards (the ‘Share Awards’} The Ordinary Shares were 1ssued
as follows

Non-Executive Director Number of Ordinary Number of Ordinary Number of Ordinary
Shares awarded on 18  Shares vested and 1ssued Shares unvested at 31

June 2012 on 18 June 2012 December 2012

Michael Kirkwood, CMG 94,157 31,386 62,771

25




Lorraine Baldry, OBE 47,078 15,693 31,385
Peter Coarnell 47,078 15,693 31,385
Andrew Shilston 47,078 15,693 31,385

The Ordinary Shares once vested cannot be sold or transferred until ane year following the end of
the Non-Executive Directors’ term of service The Share Awards also provide that the remaining
Ordinary Shares will vest in equal tranches tn June 2013 and June 2014 Authority to 1ssue such
further Ordinary Shares was approved by shareholders at the AGM held on 18 June 2012 The
named Non-Executive Directors do nat hold any other interests in the ordinary share capital of the
Company

Share warrants

Health Trust (Jersey), a family trust of which Ali Parsa s a beneficiary, ho!ds a total of 2,340,765
share warrants at an exercise price of £1 52 which entitle the holder to an equivalent number of
ordinary shares in the Company They vest evenly over a 24 month period from May 2011 and are
exercisable from the date they vest

Service contracts

The Company's policy is for Executive Directors’ service contract notice periods to be no longer than
12 months, with the Directors having to give not less than six months written notice In the event of
termination, the Company will seek fair mitigation of contractual rights Within legal constraints, the
Remuneration Committee tailors its approach, in the event of early termination, to the
arcumstances of each individual case The contracts of Executive Directors do not provide for any
enhanced payments in the event of a change of control in the Company

Other than payments made to Al Parsa in relation to the cessation of his employment, there have
been no further payments made during the year in relation to compensation for loss of office

Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors are appointed for an initial penod of three years, which may be extended by
agreement with the Board, subject to re-election by shareholders at the AGM Such appointment
may be terminated by the Board or the Director with one months’ notice None of the Non-
Executive Directors are engaged on a service contract with the Company

The Charman's remuneration was determined by the Board based on industry practice and taking
into account relevant responsibilities and time commitment

The remuneration for Non-Executive Directars consists of fees for services in connection with Board
and committee meetings Fees for Non-Executive Directors are determined by the Board, within the
restrictions contained in the Articles of Association The levels of remuneratton for the Non-
Executive Directors reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of the role The Non-Executive
Directors are not involved in deciding their fees

Individual emoluments for the year

The table below shows a breakdown, including taxable and other benefits, for each Director for the
year, or from the date of appointment for thase Directors appointed in the year
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2012

Executive

Al Parsa
Massoud Fouladh
Paolo Pien

Non-Executive
Michael Kirkwood, CMG
Lorraine Baldry, OBE
Peter Cornell

Andrew Shilston

Tony Bromovsky

Tim Bunting

Jamie Wood

Actual

Annua)
taxable
coniracted Actual Share- and
fees salarnes Pension based other
/ fees Scheme charges benefits* Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
415 415 70 1 564 1,060
156 156 26 - 184
188 188 31 - 1 220
100 100 - 38 - 138
53 53 - 19 - 72
40 40 - 19 - 59
48 48 - 19 - 67
40 3 - - - 3
1,040 1,003 127 108 565 1,803

* Included within actual taxable and other benefits during the year 1s a payment to Al Parsa in refation to the cessation of his

employment wath the Company This payment includes 12 months base salary of £400,000, a termination payment of

£71,000, a contnbution of £85,000 to his personal pension plan to which previous employer contributions have been made

2011

Executive

Al Parsa
Masscud Foulads
Paolo Pien

Non-Executive

Michael Kirkwood, CMG
Lorraine Baldry, OBE
Peter Cornell

Andrew Shilston

Tim Bunting

Jamie Wood

Annual Actual
contracted Actual Share- taxable
salaries / salaries / Pension based and other

fees fees Scheme charges benefits Total

£7000 £000 £/000 £000 £°000 £000

400 168 - - 1 169

152 152 - - - 152

183 107 - - - 107

100 50 - - - 50

53 30 - - - 30

40 20 - - - 20

48 16 - - - 16

976 543 - - 1 544

Capita charged the Group £nilin the year to 31 December 2012 for Drrector responsibility fees

(2011 £11,000) Note 33 provides further details of the fiduciary services provided by Capita to the

Group during the year

No Directors waived emoluments In respect of the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011 none)
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Beneficial interests

(Restated)** Exchanged At 31

At 1 January in the Awards in December

2012 2012 year** year 2012

{number) (number) {number) (number}

Health Trust (Jersey)* 2,394,185 - 1,111,111 3,505,296

Massoud Fouladi 5,100,000 63,500 150,000 5,313,500

7,494,185 63,500 1,261,111 8,818,796

* Health Trust (Jersey) 1s a family trust of whrch Al Parsa 1s a beneficiary

b The number of shares in Circle Partnership held by Health Trust (Jersey} was restated to reflect the

amount formally 1ssued at 31 December 2011

i As part of the wind up of the Health Properties Benefit Trust in 2011, Massoud Foulad:, a beneficiary
of the trust, forfeited his shares in the scheme in exchange for 63,500 shares in the Circle Partnership
share scheme This offer was formally accepted by Massoud Fouladi on 30 August 2012

Shares in Circle Holdings plc

Incremental Exchanged Disposed
Exchanged five-for-one In the on the
Year At1lJanuary in year spht year* year
{number) {number} {number}) {number} {number}
Health Partners 2012 3,136,180 - - - (5,000)
2011 985,610 (179,187) 3,225,692 {895,935} -
. On 15 March 2011, Health Partners entered into a Share Transfer Agreement whereby Health

Partners transferred a percentage of its holding in Circle Holdings ple to the existing shareholders in
exchange far shares in the Circle Partnership

Warrants in Circle Holdings plc

Awards In At 31

Year Exercse price At 1 January year December

{E) {number) {number) {number)

Health Trust (Jersey}* 2012 £152 2,340,765 - 2,340,765
2011 £152 2,340,765 - 2,340,765

*Health Trust (Jersey) ts a family trust of which Al Parsa 15 a beneficiary

Lorraine Baldry, OBE
Chair, Remuneration Committee
17 Apnl 2013
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulatians

Directors are requtred by Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 to prepare financial statements for each
financial year The Directors have elected to prepare the Group financial staternents in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European Union and the
Company financial statements 1n accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ('UK GAAP'), as well as applicable law Under Company law the Directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and the Company and the profit or loss of the Group for that penod In
preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

* make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

* state whether apphcable IFRS and UK accounting standards as appropriate, have been
followed, subject to any matenal departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements, and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basts unless It is Inappropriate to
presume the Company and the Group will conttinue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the Group's and Company's transactions and disclase with reasonable accuracy, at any
time, the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with Companies {Jersey) Law 1991 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnity of the Company’s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurnsdictions

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Board of Directors” Report,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge

¢ the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, habilities, financial position and
loss of the Group, and

* the Directors’ report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group, together with a descrption of the principal risks and
uncertainties that it faces

Disclosure of information to auditors
So far as the Directors are aware at the time the report is approved

e there s no relevant audit Information of which the Company's auditors are unaware, and

e each Director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director in
order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of the information
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Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to continue in office A resolution
concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Steve Melton
Chief Executive Officer
17 Apnl 2013
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Independent auditors’ report
To the members of Circle Holdings plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Circle Holdings pic for the year ended 31
December 2012 which comprise the consohdated income statement, the consolidated balance
sheet, the consohdated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows
and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applhed in their preparation
is apphcable law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities, set out on pages 29 to 30 the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view Qur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and international Standards on Auditing (UK and
ireland} Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards
for Auditors

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a
body in accordance wath Article 113A of the Companies (lersey) Law 1991 and for no other purpose
We do not, in giving this opimon, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the finanaal statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently appled
and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with
the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
Inconsistencies we consider the implications for gur report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

* gwve atrue and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of
the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union, and

s have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
(Jersey) Law 1991

Opinion on other matter

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’” Report for the financial year for which financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements
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Emphasis of matter — Going concern

In forming our opinian on the financial statements, which i1s not modified, we have considered the
adequacy of the disclosure made in note 2 to the financial statements concerning the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern While the Directors are confident that the Group can continue to
meet their working capital requirements over the next 12 to 18 months, any significant deviations
from their forecasts could impact on its ability to do so, and these conditions as explained in note 2
to the financial statements indicate the existence of a materntal uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern The financial statements
do not include the adjustments that would result if the Group were unable to continue as agoing
concern

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies (lersey} Law
1991 requires us to report to you If, iIn our opinion

* proper accounting records have not been kept, or
* the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records, or
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Circle Holdings plc for
the year ended 31 December 2012

FP—

Nigel Reynclds

For and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Recogrized Auditors
London

17 Aprl 2013
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Circle Holdings pic

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes
Revenue 4
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Administrative expenses before exceptional tems
Operating loss before exceptional items 5
Exceptional operating items 6
Operating loss 5
Finance income 10
Finance costs 9
Exceptionat finance items 6
Prowvisian for joint venture deficit 15
Loss before taxation
Income tax credn 12

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the financial year

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the parent

= Non-controlling interests 24

Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share attribuiable to

the owners of the parent (pence) 1

2012 2011
£000 £000
73,246 74,607
(52,097) (50,887)
21,149 23,720
(39,123) (40,853)
(17,979) (17,133)
(11,332) {1,413)
(29,306) {18,546)
3,513 3,454
(5,244) (6.809)
866 (10,097)
(259) (926)
(30,430) (32,924)
6 613
(30,424) (32,311)
(25,426) (28,693)
(4,998) (3,618)
(30,424) (32,311)
(257) (64 4)

There 1s no other comprehensive Income ansing n the Group or joint venture {2011 €nil) and therefore

no separate Statement of other comprehensive Income has been prepared
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Circle Holdings plc

Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December 2012 2012 2011
Note £000 £'000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 13 6,368 5,391
Property, plant and equipment 14 24,876 20,594
Trade and other receivables 17 662 43,961
31,906 69,946
Current assets
lnventanes 18 1,298 201
Trade and other receivables 17 57,079 19,788
Cash and cash equivalents 18 38,029 26,004
96,406 46,693
Total assets 128,312 116,639

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 19 (15,111) (15,303)
Loans and other borrowings 20 (50,836) (22,099)
Provisions 21 (2,468) (924)
(68,415) {38,326}
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (2,257) -
Loans and gother borrowings 20 (10,664) (46,259)
Provision for joint venture deficit 15 {2,947) (2,688)
Provisions 21 (189) {707)
Denvative financial instruments 22 (1,113) (2,475)
{17,170) (52,129}
Total liabilities (85,583) (90,455)
Net assets 42,727 26,184
Share capital 23 2,614 1,255
Share premium 23 193,145 148,548
Other reserves 23 22,182 22,182
Warrant reserve 25 22,390 21,475
Share-based charges reserve 26 96 .
Retained deficit {170,612) {147,106)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 69,815 46,354
Non-controlling interests 24 (27,088) (20,170)
Total equity 42,727 26,184

The financiat statements on pages 33 to 92 were approved by tha Board of Directors on 17 Apnl 2013 and were
signed on its behalf by

Steve Melton Paolo Pren
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Circle Holdings plc Registered number 100016 (Jersey)




Circle Holdings plc

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2012

At 1 January 2011

Loss and total
comprehensive loss for the
yoar

Transactions with

issue of shares {note 23)
Issue of shares under
warrants {note 23}
Share-based charges (note
26)

Capitahsed costs in relation
to fundraising

Effect of shares vesting in
the year {(note 24)

Shares 1ssued to Health
Partners (note 24)
Winding up of Health
Properties Benefit Trust
{note 24)

Effect of Nations
Healthcare Group
restructure {note 24)

Effect of anti-difutive
shares issued 1o Health
Partners (note 24}

At 1 January 2012

Total comprehenstive loss
for the year
Transactions with
owners

tssue of shares (note 23}

Issue of shares in respect
of awards to Non-Executive
Directors (note 23)

Share based charges in
respect of warrants issued
(note 26)

Capitalised costs in relation
to fundrassing (note 23)

Etfect of shares vesting in
the penod (note 24)

At 31 December 2012

Share- Equity

based attributable Non-
Share Share Other  Warvant charges  Retained 1o ownersof controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve deficit  the parent interests equity
£'000 £000 £ 00Q £'000 £'003 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
425 111,680 - 19,878 - {128,049) 3,934 (9,157) {5,223)
- - - - - (28,693} (28,693) {3,618) (32,311)
535 40674 . - - 2,241 43,450 - 43,450
285 - 22,182 - - - 22,477 - 22,477
- - - 1,597 - - 1,697 B 1,597
- {3,806) - - - - (3,806) - {3,806}
- - - - - 1,438 1,438 {1,438) -
- - - - - 2,204 2,204 (2,204) -
- - - - - 835 835 {835) -
. - - - - 2,383 2,383 {2,383) -
- - - - - 535 535 {535) -
1,255 148,548 22,182 21,475 - (147,106) 46,354 (20,170) 26,184
- - - - - (25,426) (25,426) {4,988) (30,424)
1,357 46,143 . - - - 47,500 - 47,500
2 - - - 96 - a8 - 98
- . - 915 - - 915 - 915
- {1,546) - - - - {1,546) - (1,546)
- - - - - 1,920 1,920 {1,920) -
2,614 193,145 22,182 22,390 96 (170,612) 69,815 (27,088) 42,727
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Circle Holdings plc

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash outflow from operating activities
Interest paid

Interest receved

Tax pad

Net cash used in operating actlvities
Cash tlows from investing activities

Additional consideration paid for Circle Clinic Windsor
Purchase of computer software

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on cessation of contract to run Circle's Burton NHS Treatment

Centre
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from 1ssuance of warrants
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares
Caprtalised costs in relation to fundraising
Repayment of borrowings

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of finance lease

Movement In restricted cash

—  Release of mmimum balance — GE Gapital Equipment Finance Limited

('GE" and DoH
—  Release of DoH performance bond

—  Committed cash in respect of future interest on Allied Insh Bank {'AIB")

loan

—  Committed cash n respect of Hinchingbrocke deposit

Net cash inflow from financing actlvities

Net Increase in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents consist of.
Cash at bank and in hand

Restricted cash

- Minimum balance — GE and DoH

- Letter of Credit — GE

- Commutted cash i respect of future interest on AlB loan

—  Hinchingbrooke deposit

Unrestricted cash at bank and on hand

Note

30

10

19
i3

23
23
23
31
3
n

K)
31

31
31

i8
18
18
18

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
(16,989)  (23,575)
(2,998) (6.040)
3,513 3,454
(62) -
(16,536)  (26,161)
(10) (10
(1,401) (185)
40 .

. 2,500
(2,746)  (10,530)
(4,117) (8,225)
- 295
47,502 52,545
{1,546) (3,808)
(12,604) (5,922)
. 5,000

(674) {44)

- 600

. 500

175 (175)
(2,000) -
30,853 48,993
10,200 14,607
22,729 8,122
32,929 22,729
38,029 26,004
{1,300) (1,300}
(1,800) {1,800)
- (175)
{2,000) -
22,729

32,929




Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 General information

Circle Holdings plc (the ‘Company’), iis subsidianes and joint venture (together the ‘Group’) provide healthcare
services In the UK

The Company 1s a public imited company and is incorporated in Jersey, however 1t is resident in the UK for tax
purposes The registered office 1s 12 Gastle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE2 3RT

2 Significant accounting policies

The pnincipal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS’) as adopted by the European Union and IFRIC interpretations, Companies (Jersey) Law 1991,
on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of denvative
financial mstruments and the fair valuing of certain loans In their preparation, management must make certain
cnical accounting estimates and exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement, assumption or estimates which are significant 1o the
consolidated financial statemenis are set out at the end of note 2

ltems included In the results of each of the Group's subsichanes and joint venture are measured using the
functional currency, which in all instances 15 Sterling The Group’s consolidated financial statements and parent
company statements are presented in Sterling All financial informalion presented has been rounded to the
nearest thousand

New standards, amendments and interpretations

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and as adopted by the European Union as at 31 December 2012 The
following new standards are effeclive for accounting pericds beginning 1 January 2012 but have not had a
matenal impact on the results or financial position of the Group

— Amendment to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' - Deferred tax Recovery of Underlying Assets Limited scope
amendment regarding recovery of underlying assets

IFRS standards in 1ssue, not yet effective as at 31 December 2012, but which will apply in the future are as
follows

- IFRS 9, 'Financial nstruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognitton of financial
assets and financial llabiliies IFRS 9 was issued in Novermnber 2009 and Cctober 2010 |t replaces the parts
of 1AS 33 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments IFRS 9 requires financial
assets to be classified into two measurement categones those measured as at far value and those
measured at amortised cost The determination 1s made at inihial recognition  The classification depends on
the enuty’s business model for managing its financial mstruments and the contractual cash flow
charactenstics of the instrument

— IFRS 10, 'Consolidated financial statements’ - The standard will replace all the guidance on control and
consolidation in IAS 27 'Consolidated and separate financial statements’ and SIC-12 'Consolidation — special
purpose entities’ (applies to annual pernods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, subject to endorsement by
the EU)
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
New standards, amendments and interpretations (continued)

- IFRS 11, ‘Jont arrangements’ and IAS 28 (revised 2011) 'Associates and joint ventures’ - These
standards provide for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the rghts and
obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form (applies to annual penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014, subject to endorsement by the EU)

— IFRS 12, 'Disclosures of mterests in other entihes’ - The standard requires entities to disclose
mformation that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial effects
associated with the entity’s mterests in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and other off
balance sheet vehicles {applies to annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, subject to
endorsement by the EU)

- IFRS 13, ‘Far value measurement’ - The standard aims to improve consistency and reduce
complexity by providing a precise definiion of far valuse and a single source of far value
measurement and disclosure requrements for use across |FRSs, excluding the far value
measurement of share-based charges (applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013)

The above amendments are not expecied to matenally impact the Group's financial statements in fulure
periods

Going concern

The Drectors' consider 1t to be apprepriate for the accounts to be prepared on a Going Concern basis
based on the assumptions considered in the Directors’ report on page 17

Basis of consolidation

i Subsidiaries

The results of subsidianes {defined as entiies over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the subsidiary) are consoldated from the date on which control of the net assets
and operations of the acquired company are effectively transferred to the Group Similarly the results of
subsidiaries disposed of cease to be consolidated from the date on which control of the net assets and
operations are transterred out of the Group

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 15 the far value of the assets transferred, the habilities
incurred 1o the former owners of the business and the equity interests 1ssued by the Group Identifrable
assets acquired, hatihities and ¢ontingent labiities assumed in a businéss combmnation are measured at
therr fair values at the acquisition date Acguisition related costs are expensed as incurred

ii  Circle Partnership Limited share scheme

The results of Circle Partnership Limited (‘Circle Partnership’) have been consolidated in these financial
statements under SIC 12 'Consolidation special purpose entities’ The Circle Partnership share scheme 1s
considered part of the Group owing to the nature of the scheme (as disclosed in note 24), whereby
employees, clinicians and consultants who contrnibute to the growth in value of the Circle Health Group,
subscribe for shares in Circle Partnership

il Jolnt ventures

The Group has an interest in a joint venture A joint venture 1s a contractual arrangement whereby twe or
more parties undertake an economic activity that 1s subject to joint control and nvolves the establishment
of a separate entity in which each venture has an interest The Group recogrises s interest in jomnt
ventures using equity accounting which reguires the interest in the jont venture to be carned in the
conschdated balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisttion changes in the Group's share of its net assets and
habiites, less distnbutions received and impairments in the value of indwvidual mvestments If the joint
venture 15 in a net kabiity position, the Group recognises a provision for its constructive and legal
obligations n relation to the joint venture
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued}

Basis of consolidation {continued)

v Non-controlling interests

Non controlling interests n the results and equity of the Group's subsidiary undertakings are recorded n the
cansolidated income statement and balance sheet based upon the proportion of the non-controlling interest's
ownership of the Group s subsichary underiakings This anses in Circle Health because of the portion of shares
issued to employees, chinicians and consultants via the Circle Partnershup share scheme which have vested
unconditionally

The results of the subsidianes and joinl venture are measured as at the same reporting date as the parent
company using consistent accounting policies Intra-group transactons and balances are elimmated on
consolidation

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operalting segments

Revenue

Revenue, which 1s measured as the far value of consideration receved for the activity performed, represents
the total amounts derived pnmanly from the provision of healthcare services in the UK, after deducting relevant
discounts and value added tax {where services provided are not exempt) Revenue is recognised en cempletion
of the patient's appointment and can be broken down into the following

- Contracts with guaranteed volumes and payments

Such contrasts, namely the existing Notingham ISTC long-term contract, offer guaranteed payments,
based on medical procedures performed, subject to vanous contractual provisions which require an
element of the revenue to be deferred until certain contractual obligattons have been met Profit1s taken on
the coniract as the appointments are completed but adjusted to reflect the contractual terms in relation to
underutiisation wathin contract quarters and years Revenue 1s also accrued or deferred where treatment
takes place ahead or behind contractuzl actmvity levels

An element of this revenue 1S used to pay the costs of consultants

—  Any Quahtied Provider

Such NHS contracts offer payment by result which replaced Extended Choice Network tn 2011 Any
Quanfied Provider may compete for NHS work at a tanff The mechanism for this 1s that the provider will
publish avallable cutpatient slols under the national Choose and Book system The Group will invoice
directly at that tanft for medical procedures performed, following completion of the patient's appomntment

Again, an element of this revenue Is used to pay the costs of consultants

~  Private and self-pay
Payment I1s based on procedures performed, either at contractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay
rates, which are determined by the specific procedure undertaken
In the case of pnivate revenue, the insurance comparies pay the consultants directly and Circle recognises
revenue for use of the Hospital, consumables and other Clinical services

For self pay, Circle recognises all the revenue and cost of the consultant 1s charged to cost of sales

- Revenue under management
For accounting purposes, the Group ts not deemed to control the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust
{‘Hinchingbrooke’) and therefore does not consolidate the net assets and results of the Trust Untl such
time that surpluses are generated by Hinchingbrooke, the Group will not recogrise any income associated
with the runrung of the contract and meanwhile revenue generated by Hinchingbrooke will be presented as
proforma ‘Revenue under management' which 1s a non-statutory term

—  Other miscellaneous Income
Other miscellaneous ncome primarily relates {o car parking revenue, delicatessen revenue, property rental
and advertistng income

Operating financial asset

An element of the Nottingham ISTC income is afinbutable to construction services and 15 therefore recognised
In accordance with IAS 11 ‘Construction contracis’, using the percentage of completton method In the current
operational phase of the coniract, a financiat asset 1s recognised to the extent that the operator receves a fixed
payment from the chent, irrespective of the extent of use
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policles (continued)
Operating financial asset (continued)

An efement of income 15 allocated between interest recevable and the operating financial asset using the
contracted rate of return Pursuant to |IAS 39, an impairment loss 1s recogmised if the carrying amount of these
assets exceeds the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the contracted rate of return The
remainder of the income 1s ncluded within revenue in accordance with IFRIC 12 'Service concesston
arrangements’ {IFR!IC 12°) The Group only recognises income 1n respect of the services provided, as it fulfils
its contractual obhigations and i line with the fair value of the consideration recevable

The underlying asset, namely the Treatment Centre, 1s not deemed to be an asset of the Group under IFRIC
12 because its residual ownership 1s deemed to lie principally with the DoH To the extent that there 1s an
unconditional night to receive cash, the construction costs of the Treatment Centre are recorded as a financial
asset under the heading ‘Operating financial asset' within ‘Trade and other recewvables' and recogmsed at
amortised cost

Operating financial assets are presented as current where collection 15 expected within one year or less,
otherwise they are presented as non-current

Exceptional Items

Exceptional tems are disclosed and described separately in the financial statements where it 1s necessary to
do so to provide further understanding of the financial performance of the Group They are tems of ncome or
expense, either one-off in nature, non-cash or of such magnitude that the Directors believe separate
disclosure 1s required to allow readers to gain an understanding of the underlying results of the business

Exceptional items in the year ended 31 December 2012 of £11,332,000 (2011 £1,413,000) consist largely of
impairments to property, plant and equipment, provision of the debtor balance with the joint venture,
provisions n respect of VAT, write-off of CircleReading pre-opening expenses, revaluation of finance lease
payments, share-based charges in respect of warrants and shares issued, increases in onerous lease
provisians and restructuning costs incurred dunng the year

Exceptional finance income of £866,000 (2011 expense of £10,097,000) were incurred due to far value
adjustments of interest rate swaps in the penod and costs associated with the repayment of JCAM loan

Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised on an effective interest rate basis in the period in which they are incurred,
except where they are directly attributable to the acquisition or production of a qualifying asset which takes a
substantial penod of time to get ready for intended use, such as the construction of a hospital In such cases,
borrowing costs are capialised as part of the cost of that asset from the first date on which expenditure 1s
incurred for the asset Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
use are complete

Gn certain leans, interest 1s rolled up into the principal This 1s taken into account when calculating the
effective interest rate

Finance income

Finance income s accrued by reference to the principat outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable
Finance income arnses on the operating financial asset, recognised at the effective interest rate of the project
and includes interest received from cash balances held

Intangible assets

Intangble assets comprnse

I Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisiion of a business comlunation over the Group'’s
share of the far value of dentifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the business acquired at
the date of acquisititon At the date of acquisihon, goodwill 1s allocated at the lowest levels for which there
are separate identifiable cash flows for the purpose of Imparrment testing

li Computer software
Computer software (defined as software that 1s not considered an integral part of the hardware
equipment) represents third party costs incurred in relation to the Group's information technology
systems

40




Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
m  Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets compnse third party *know-how' costs which meet the criteria of 1AS 38 'Intangible
assels’ ‘Know-how' costs are incurred in creating a 'new build programme’ to standardise the design of
future world class hospitals by bulding them within a shortened tme frame utilising standard build
components which have been manufactured off site

Impairment and amortisation

Assets thal have an indefinite useful life such as goodwill, or intangible assets that are stll in thew development
phase, are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for imparrment or more {requently If there are
indications of iImpairment Assets that are subject to amorhsation are reviewed for imparrment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss 1s
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The
recoverable amount 1$ the igher of an asset's fair value less cosl to sell, and value In use

Goodwill 1s initally recogrnised at cost After mmuial recognition, goodwill 18 measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses The value in use 1s calculated using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate Gains
and losses on disposal of a business include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the business sold

Computer software and other intangible assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses  Once the asset 1s complete, amortisation 1s provided on a straight ine basis to aliocate the
cost of the asset over its estimated useful life and the charge s taken to admimistrative expenses The intangible
asset Is assessed for imparment whenever there 1s an indication that the asset may be imparred

The useful economic life of the Group's intangible assets 1s as follows

Computer software - 3years
New build programme ‘know-how' — SByears

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at histonical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Histonical cost compnses all amounts directly attributable 10 making assets capable of operating as intended,
ncluding development costs and borrowing costs where relevant

Depreciation is provided on all categories of property, plant and equipment with the exception of freehold land
and assets under construction Depreciation 1s based on cost less estimated residual value and 1s provided on a
straight Iine basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows

Leasehold land - fife of lease
Leasehold inprovements — shorter of lease life or expected useful life (5-10 years)
Chrical equipment — 3to5years

Furniture, fitings and office equipment,
{Including commissIoning costs)

310 10 years

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporbing period The expected useful ives of
the assets to the business are reassessed perodically in the ght of experience The carrying values of property,
plant and equipment are reviewed for i/mparment when events or changes of circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable
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Assets under construction
i Commissioning costs in course of construction

Commissioning costs comprise staff, property, consultancy and operational costs directly related to the
commissioning of new builld hospitals Such costs are capitalised up to the point that the commussioning 1s
complete and the hospital 1s fully open for business, subsequent to which such expenditure 1s charged to
the Income slatement Once commissioned, the asset 1s reclassified from "Assets under construction’ to the
relevant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated on a straight ine basis in accordance with
the estimated useful lives as outlned above

n Development costs in course of construction

Development costs which are directly atinbutable to the development of property are capitalised as part of
the cost of the property The commencement of capttalisation begins when development costs for the
property are being \ncurred and activities that are necessary lo prepare the asset ready for use are in
progress Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are
complete

Leases

Where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the ieased item are transferred to the Group,
the lease is classified as a finance lease and capitalised at the fair value of the leased asset or, If lower, at
the present value of the mimimum future lease payments Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease hability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remamning
balance of the habiity Finance charges are recognised in the mcome statement Leased assets are
depreciated over the useful Iife of the asset

Where the Group does not retain substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset, leases
are classified as operating leases Operating lease rental payments are recognised as an expense In the
inceme statement on a straight ine basis over the lease term Lease incentives are recognised over the
lease term

Inventories

Inventones, pnmanly medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost
comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and 1s determined on a first-in, first-out basis Net realisable
value means estimated selling price, less all costs incurred n marketing, selling and distnbution Obsolete
stock 15 provided for i the Income statement

Where title never transfers to the Group, consignment stock 1s held off balance sheet

Amounts recoverable on contracts

Amounts recoverable on contracts are accounted for under 1AS 11 and 1AS 18 All costs incurred in
advance of a contract being awarded are wntten off to the income statement, until the date that, in the
opinion of the Directors, it 1s wvirtually certain that the contract has been secured Once the Directors
consider virtual certainty has been achieved and the contract 1s expected to result in future net cash inflows,
all future costs incurred up to the bme the contract becomes operational are carred as amounts
recoverable on contracts, within ‘trade and other recewvables’ Once the contract 1s operational, the balance
1s accounted for as part of the accounting for the contract as a whole in accordance with IAS 11 and IAS 18,
and recogrused in the income slatement over the contract term
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Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent amounts due from customers ansing from the performance of senvices or
sale of goods Trade recewables are mntially recognised at far value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, which includes an allowance for imparrment where there 1s objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the oniginal terms of the contract The
allowance for impairment 1s the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated cash flows, discounted at the onginal effeclive interest rate The movement in the allowance for
impatrment 1s taken to administrative expenses

Trade receables are presented as current where collection 1s expected within one year or less, otherwise
they are presented as non-current

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits, held at call with banks, overnight deposits
other shori-term highly hquid investments with origmal maturties of three months or less and bank
overdrafts In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdralts are shown within borrowings In current
lhabiiies Restncted cash which 1s included in this balance 1s bed-up subject to contractual arrangements

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired In the ordinary
course of business from supplers Trade payables are mially recognised at farr value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost If payment 15 expected within one year or less, they are classified as current
labilitres

Pension costs

The Group operates personal defined contnbution pension schemes Contnibutions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable, in accordance with the rules of the scheme The Group has
no further payment obligation once the contnbutions have been paid

Current and deferred income taxation

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax The charge for current income tax 1s based on the
results for the penod, as adjusted for tems which are taxable or deductible in other accounting periods
and items not taxed or disallowed The charge s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting peried

Deterred income tax 1s accounted for using the hiability method in respect of temporary differences ansing
from differences between the tax bases of assets and habilities, and ther carrying amounts in the
consohdated financial statements In principle, deferred tax labiites are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recogrised to the extent that it i1s probable that taxable
profits will be avalable against which deductible temporary differences can be utiised Such assets and
llabilites are not recognised If the temporary difference i1s due to the inhal recognition of goodwill or from
the inthial recognition of an asset or hability in a transaction (other than a business combination) which at
the tme of the transaction does not affect either taxable or accounting profit

Deferred 1ax habihties are recogrused for taxable temporary differences ansing on mvestments In
subsidianes and interests in jomnt ventures, except where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary dfference and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future
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Current and deferred income taxation

Deferred tax 1s calculated at the tax rates that are expected o apply to the period when the asset 1s
reahsed or the habthty i1s settled using rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at the end of the
reporting period Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except io
the extent that 1t relates to items recogrused in other comprehensive income or directly in equity In
this case, the tax 1s also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly In equity, respectively

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will
be avatable against which the temporary differences can be utlised The carrying amount of deferred
tax assets i1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered

Derivative financial instruments

The Group has entered inte derivative financial instrument arrangements to manage 1ts exposure 1o
interest rate nsk The Group's critena for entering into such arrangements, namely interest rate
swaps, are that the instrument must be related to an asset or a habity and t must change the
character of the interest rate by converting a vanable rate to a fixed rate or vice versa

Derivatives are imihally recognised at fair value at the date a denvative contract 1s entered into and are
classified as current or non-current based on the timing of cash flows Dernvatives are subsequently
remeasured to fair value at each balance sheet date and the movement 1s recogmised immediately in
the iIncecme statement, in finance income or finance costs accordingly

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions in respect of dilapidations, onerous leases and under declared VAT are recognised when
the Group has a present obligation in respect of a past event, when it 1s probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and it can be reliably estmated Prowvisions are
discounted where the time value of money 1s considered to be matenal, using an approgriate pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the
obligation The unwinding of the discount 1s recognised as a finance cost

Loans and borrowings

All non-convertible loans and borrowings are recognised intially at far value, net of direclly
attributable transaction costs Subsequent to Jrutial recognition, loans and borrowings are carried at
amortised cost, with any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption value
being recognised in the income statement over the penod of the borrowing, using the effective
interest rate method

Borrowings are classified as current habilities unless the Group has an unconditional nght to defer
settlement of the lhiability for at least 12 months after the reporting date

Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments 1ssued by the Group comprise convertible loans that can be
converted to share capital at the option of the holder The number of shares to be ssued 1s
calculated based on the outstanding loan commitment at the date of conversion

The hability component of a compound instrument 15 recogrused mtially at the fair value of a similar
hability that does not have an equity conversion option The equity component is recognised initially
as the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the far
value of the habilly component
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Compound ftnancial instruments (continued}

Subsequent to inittal recogmtion, the habity component of a compound financial instrument s
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method The equity component of a compound
financial instrument 1s not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry

Warrants

A warrant 1s an instrument issued by the Company which gives the holder the nght to purchase shares
in the company at a specific price at a future date An equity instrument 1s any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its habilities A warrant is treated as
a financial liability (f

- it1s a non-denvative and the Group 1s obliged to deliver a vanable number of its shares, or
- it 1s a denvative that will be settled other than by a fixed amount of cash or other assets for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own shares

Transaction costs are apportioned between the hability and equity components of the instrument based
on the allocation of proceeds to the habiity and equity components when the instruments are first
recognised

Equity warrants

The proceeds on i1ssue of equity warrants are included within shareholders’ equity, net of transaction
costs The fair value of the equity component i1s not re-measured in subsequent years The fair value of
warrants 1s credited to equity with the debit being charged to the income statement or taken to labilities
where the warrants are linked to a loan

Equity warrants are valued using an appropriate valuation methodology on a diluted pricing basis, based
on the relevant share price at the tme of 1ssue or based on an assessment of the market pnice at the
time of issue

Share-based charges

Shares, and in some cases share warrants, are 1ssued to employees and consultants The far value of
the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares or share warrants 1s recogrised
as an expense, with a corresponding credit to equity The iotal amount expensed 1s determined by
reference to the farr value of the warrants granted, including

- Any market perfformance conditions such as an entity's share pnce,

- Non-market performance condiions and service conditions included in assumptions about the
number of options that are expectied to vest, and

- The impact of any non-vesting condiions

And excluding
- Impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions {profitability, sales growth
targets and remaining an employee for a specified penod of time}

The total expense 1s recogmsed over the vesting period, which 1s the penod over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are expected to be satisfied
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Dividends

Dividend dsstribution to the Company's shareholders 1s recognised as a hability in the Group's financial
statements in the penod i which the dvidends are approved by the Company’s shareholders

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Proceeds received, net of any direclly attributable transaction
costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the Directors make judgements and
estimates concerning the future The resuliing accounting estimates will, by definiion, seldom equal the
related actual results The following judgements and estimates have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements

Judgements

The key judgements that have a sigmficant nsk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and habiliies within the next financial year are discussed below

i Revenue recognition
Revenue 15 recognised on completion of a patient's appointment However the Nottingham ISTC
contract has certain claw-back clauses based on total contracted volumes over the guarter which
means that judgements must be made to accrue a certain amount of income in the balance sheet
This includes the recoverability of revenue recognised in excess of the mimmum payments
received

li Consohdation of Circle Partnership Limited share scheme
Circle Partnership 1s a special purpose entity which has been created to operate as an employee
share ownership plan The results of this entity have been consolidated into the Group financial
statements under SIC 12 ‘Conschdaticn special purpose entities’ on the basis that the entity 15
controlled by the Group

1in  Amounts recoverable on contracts
Amounts recoverable on contracts which have been capitalised in accordance with 1AS 11 and IAS
18, are being amorhised over the life of the contract Estmates of future income may be
inaccurate, such that profits may not anse to support their carrying value

Estimates

The key assumplions and estrmates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant nisk of
causing a matenat adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and habilities within the next financial
year are discussed below

i Tax
The recognition of deferred tax assets 1s dependent upon an estimation of future taxable profits
that will be available against which deductible temporary differences can he utiised In the event
that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carrying value of such
deferred tax assets in future years Based on this, management has not recogrused the majonty of
deferred tax assets ansing
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued)

vii

VHI

Provisions

Provisions are assessed annually in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy Provisions are
recognised where it 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will occur as a result of a past
event or transaction and a reliable estimate of the outflow can be made In the event that esttmates
are wrong, this may impact the financial statements n future years

Valuation of property, plant and equipment

Freehold and leasehold land were subject to valuations at 31 December 2012 by third party
professional valuers The valuations were based on a number of factors including intended usage
for the site, potential rental value and where applicable the iength of the lease In the event that
esttmates are wrong, this may impact the financial statements in future years

Share-based charges

Share-based charges are based on the share and warrant valuations calculated using several
assumphons (for example share pnce volatiity and time constraints) included within an option
pncing model In the event that estimates are wrong, this may impact the charge mn future years

Usetful hves and recoverability of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed on a regular basis to check they are stll in use, to
ensure that their useful econormic Ife 1s m ine with the expected lWfe of the asset and that therr
carrying values are recoverable In the event that estimates are wrong, this may impact the financial
statements i future years

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group's interest rate swaps are far valued with ther corresponding movement being
recognised directly in the income statement These fair values are not based on quoted prices in
active markets but on estimates cof observable market data In the event that these estimates are
wrong, this may impact the charge in the income statement

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables

An allowance for imparrment of trade receivables 1s made, based on the difference between the
assel's carrying amount and the present value of estmated cash flows In the event that estmates
are wrong, thrs may impact the financial statements n future years

Goodwill and intangibles

Goodwill and intangibles are recognised at cost less amorlisation and imparrment losses The
carrying amount of goodwill 1s assessed annually based on value in use calculations, using cash
flow projections based on five year financial forecasts prepared by management Key assumptions
relating to forecasts in revenue growth and decline are used and in the event that these estimates
are wrong, this may impact the financial statements in future years

Intangible assets that are subject to amortisation are considered for imparment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable
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3 Segmental reporting

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Board The Board reviews the Group's internal reporting
in order o assess performance and allocate resources, and to date has divided the Group into three reporiable
business segments based on the Group's management and internal reperting structure The Board assesses the
performance of the segments based on revenue, gross profit, EBITDA before exceptional tems and operating {loss) /
profit These are all measured on a basis consistent with that of the consolidated ncome statement Revenue charged
between segments has been charged at arm’s length and ehminated from the Group financial statements Revenue
from external customers in the segmental analysis is also measured in a manner consistent with the income statement
Geographic factors are not considered as all of the Group's operations take place within the Urited Kingdom

Overall, the Directors consider that the Group 1s pnncipally a provider of medical services, that treals privately insured,
self-pay and NHS patients As the Group grows, a significant proportion of the independent hospitals' revenue 1s likely to
denve from NHS patients Consequently, in the future, the Board may manage the business as a single segment, as the
distinction between the type of patient and where they are treated becomes less marked This would lead to an
equivalent change in the disclosures below

All Other
Segments and
Circle Unallocated
2012 Independent Circle NHS ltems Total Group
£°000 £°000 £'000 £'000
Revenue from external customers 19,696 53,317 233 73,246
Cost of sales (14,524) (37,554) (19) {52,097)
Gross Profit 5,172 15,763 214 21,149
Administrative expenses before exceptional items,
depreciation, amortisation and charge recognised in
respect of amounts recoverable on contract {14,386) (10,717) {10,226) {35,329)
EBITDA before exceptional items {9,214) 5,046 (10,012) (14,180)
Depreciation, amorttsation and charge recogrused in
respect of amounts recoverable on contract (987) {2,293) {514) (3,794)
Share-based charges in respect of awards and
warrants issued - - (1,011) (1,011)
Revaluation of finance lease payments - - (572) (572)
CircleReading pre-opening expenses {1,069) - - (1,069)
Prowision for under declared VAT in prior penods - - {1,500) {1,500)
Restructuring costs - - (650) (650)
Increase in onerous lease provision - - (239) (239)
Profit on disposal {1 12 29 40
Impairment of non-current assets (2,120) - {2,638) (4,756)
Provision of debtor with Health Properties Bath - - {1,575) (1,575)
Operating {loss) / profit {13,391) 2,765 {18,680) (29,306}
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All Other
Segments and
Circle Unallocated
2012 Independent Circle NHS ltems Total Group
Operating (loss) / profit (continued) (13,391) 2,765 (18,680} (29,306)
Finance income 3513
Finance costs (5,244)
Exceptional finance costs 866
Provision for joint venture deficit (259)
Loss before taxation (30,430)
All Cther
Segments and
Circle Unallocated
2012 Independent Clrcle NHS Hems Total Group
Other information
- Capital additions 10,104 447 1,275 11,826
All Cther
Segments and
Circle Unallocated
2011 independent Circle NHS ltems Total Group
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Revenue from external customers 13,224 61,175 208 74,607
Cost of sales (10,631) (40,245) (11) {50,887)
Gross Profit 2,593 20,930 197 23,720
Administrative expenses before exceptional
items, depreciation, amortisation and charge
recognised In respect of amounts recoverable on
contract {11,056) (14,441) (11.856) (37,353)
EBITDA before exceptional items (8,463) 6,489 {11,659) (13,633)
Depreciaton, amortisation and charge
recognised in respect of amounts recoverable on
contract {480) (2,765) {255) (3,500)
Share-based charges in respect of warrants
1ssued - - (1,597) (1,597)
AIM histing costs not capitalised - - (293) (293)
Increase 1n onerous lease provision (150) (50) (799) {999)
Profit on cessation of contract to run Circle's
Burton NHS Treatment Centre - 1,493 - 1,493
Other excepltional items {63) - 46 (17)
Operating (loss) / profit (9,156) 5,167 {14,557) (18,546)
Finance income 3,454
Finance costs {6,809)
Exceptional finance costs (10,097)
Prowvision for oint venture deficit (926)
Loss before taxation (32,924)
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All Other
Circle Segments and
2011 Independent Circle NHS Unallocated ltems  Total Group
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Other information
Capital additions 285 1,005 13,652 14,942
4 Revenue
1 Revenue
2012 201
£000 £000
Prowvision of healthcare services 72,760 74,339
Other miscellangous income 486 268

74,607

73,246 )

n Other Income

On 1 February 2012, the Group commenced the operabon to run Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust, which
will see the Group manage an estimated £1 billion of revenue over the ten year contract period  Under the terms
of the contract, the Group has agreed to make working capital contributtons of up to £5,000,000 and will share
surpluses generated over the term of the contract with the Trust The contract allows either party to terminate if
Hinchingbrooke incurs more than £5,000,000 in aggregate deficits, at which point the Group 1s also required to pay
a further £2,000,000 in termination costs to Hinchingbrooke (currently held in escrow)

For accounting purposes, the Group 1s not deemed to control Hinchingbrooke and therefore does not consolidate
the net assets and results of the company Until such time as surpluses are generated by Hinchingbrooke, the
Group will not recognise any income associated with the running of the contract meanwhile revenue generated by
Hinchingbrooke will be presented as proforma ‘revenus under management' which is a non-statutory term

in the eleven months from 1 February 2012, Hinchingbrooke revenue has totalled £97 2 mdlion, supported by
increased out-patient and Accident & Emergency attendances, and admussions During this time, the Group has
focused on quality and safety as a priority and made some financial improvements Trading in 2012 has been
behind plan, however plans to help recover this are now betng implemented

50




Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

5 Operating loss

Operating loss 1s stated afier charging

Charge recognised in respect of amounts recoverable on contracts (note 17)
Amortisation of intangible assets {note 13)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14}

Auditors’ remuneration (see below)

Expense for bad debts

QOperating lease rental

Exceptional operating items {note 6)

Auditor's remuneration payable to PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Fees payable to Company's auditors for the parent Company and consolidated
financial statements

Fees payable to the Company's auditors for other services

— The audit of Company's subsidianes

— Audit-related assurance services

— Tax advisory services

- Other assurance services

— Al other non-audit services

Assurance services relating to the hsting on AIM were capitalised within equity (note 23)
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£'000 £'000
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1,485 1,190
552 397
10 22
10,132 10,800
11,332 1,413

2012 2011

£'000 £000
88 109
197 171
39 -
178 17
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6 EB!TDA and exceptlonal items

Exceptional operating items

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Dispasal of intangible assets (note 13) 142 -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 4,614 30
Share-based charges in respect of warrants 1ssued (note 26) 915 1,897
Shara-based charges in respact of awards to Non-Executive Directors -
(note 26) 96
Revaluation of finance lease payments 572 -
CircleReading pre-opening expenses 1,069 -
Provision for under declared VAT In pnior penods {note 21) 1,500 -
Restructuring costs 650 -
AlM hsting costs not capitalised - 293
Profit on cessation of contract to run Circle's Burton NHS Treatment Centre . {1,493)
Increase in provision for onerous leases, including dilapidations (note 21}
239 899
Provision of debtor with Health Properties Bath (note 33) 1,575 -
Other exceptional income {40) {13}
11,332 1,413

The revaluation of the finance lease payments has ansen due to the dalay n developing the Birmingham
hospital site, which will result in a tugher rent being pard untif such time that the site 1s developed

The pre-opening costs associated with opening the CircleReading hospital and the early months of trading
losses until pabent attendances increased have been included as an exceptional iterm

Restructuring costs shown above relate to the resignation of the Chief Executive Officer, All Parsa, dunng the
year These costs represent the total hability to Circle ansing from the settlement agreement reached

Exceptional finance items

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Shareholder warrant expense - Novembar 2010 warrants {note 25) - 7.373
- March 2011 warrants (note 25) - 3,506

Accelerated finance charge due to early repayment of JCAM loan 325 -
Costs associated with the repayment of JCAM loan 171 -
Issue costs associated with warrant ltabilty - 237
Gatn on farr value of tnterest rate derivative (note 22) (1,362) (1,019)
(866) 10,097

The loan owed to JCAM on 20 June 2012 was repaid In full during the year with the above costs ansing as a
result

Operating loss and EBITDA before exceptional items

2012 2011

£'000 £'000
Operating loss before exceptional items (17,974) (17,133)
Depreciation 1,485 1,190
Amortisation of intangibles 282 57
Charge recognised in respect of amounts recoverablg on contracts 2,027 2,253
EBITDA before exceptional items {14,180) (13,633)

This information 1s included here as it provides useful information to the reader of the financial statements for
understanding operational performance
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7  Employee information

Staff costs 2012 2011

£000 £000
Wages and salarnies 17,485 16,922
Share-based charges (note 26) 1,011 1,597
Social secunty costs 1,657 1,699
Other pension costs (note 28) 779 228

20,932 20,446

Share-based charges n respect of warrants 1ssued were charged to excephtional operating tems in 2012
and 2011 {note 6)

Monthly average number of full time equivalent employees 2012 2011
Number Number

Administrative 340 323
Chrical 243 208
583 53

The average number of employees includes Directors on a service contract

8 Directors’ emoluments

2012 201
£'000 £000
Aggregate emoluments 1,803 h44

Directors' emoluments relate to the Non-Executive and Executive Directors, who are remunerated by Circle
Heldings ple and Circle Health

The Directors had retrement benefit contributions during the year of £127,000 (2011 £nil)

Included within both years are share-based charges for Ali Parsa and the Non-Executive Directors, in which
associated share-based charges have ansen Al's share-based charges are in Health Trust {(Jersey), whom
Als a beneficiary

Included within the year 1s a payment to Al Parsa i relation to the cessation of his employment with the
Company This payment ncludes 12 months base salary of £400,000, a termination payment of £71,000, a
contribution of £85,000 to his personal pension plan to which previous employer contnbutions have been
made and a further £6,000 in relation to personal expenses
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8  Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Compensation of key management personnel

The Group made payments to key management personnel, defined as the key Executive partners of the
business, for services provided to the Group as follows

2012 2011
£°000 £000
Short-term employment benefits 1,486 624

As of May 2011, all key management personnel were also Directors of the Group and therefore from that
date therr remuneration has also been disclosed within aggregate emoluments of the previous section

Included within the above for both years 1s an amount for Ak Parsa, who 1s a beneficiary of Health Trust
{(Jersey), in which an associated share-based charge anses Note 26 provides more details

Amounts have been included for Steve Melton from 5 December 2012 when he was appointed Interim Chief
Executive Officer of the Group Comparative infermation has not been provided for Steve Melton as he was
not one of the key management personnel of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011

9 Finance costs

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Interest on Barclays pl¢ (‘Barclays') loan 2,236 2,246
Interest on JCAM {1} loan 2,017 4,122
Interest on AIB loan 37 359
Finance lease interest 583 57
Unwind of discount on unsecured loan note and deferred consideration 37 25
5,244 6,809

0] James Card Asset Management loan faciity of £13,300,000 repaid in June 2012

During the year, £nit of directly attnbutable interest ansing on the Vinci Construction loan (note 20} was
capitalised (2011 £296,000)
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10 Finance income

2012 201

£'000 £'000

Bank interest recevable 136 77
Interest recervable on operating financial asset 3,377 3,377
3,513 3,454

11 Loss per share

Basic loss per ordinary share 1s calculated by dividing the loss attnbutable to owners of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue dunng the year Diluted loss per ordinary
share i1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume the conversion of all potentally dilutive ordinary shares Share warrants In Issue represent
the only category of dilutive ordinary shares for the Group

The following table sets out the computation for basic and diluted net loss per share for the year

2012 2011
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to owners
of the parent (£000's) (25,426) (28.,693)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (number) 99,065,631 44 547 591
Basic and diluted loss per ordinary share (pence) (25 7) {64 4)

There 1s no difference in the weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic and diluted
net loss per ordinary share as the effect of all potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding 1s anti-
dilutive

12 Tax
i Analysis of income tax credit in year
2012 2011
£000 £000
Current tax
UK corporation {ax - 32
Adjustment in respect of previous penods (6) -
Deferred tax
Onginating and reversal of iming differences - 94
Effect of change of tax rate - 60
Recognition of previously unrecognised temporary difference - (799)
Income tax credit {6) (613)
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12 Tax (continued)
n  Factors affecting the current tax credit for the year

Although the parent company 15 registered in Jersey, it became resident for UK tax purposes during 2011
and 1s subject to UK corporation tax The tax assessed on the Group's loss before taxation differs from the
average slandard rate of UK corporation tax of 24 5% (2011 265%) The differences are explamned
below

2012 2011

£'000 £'000
Loss before taxation (30,430) (32,924)
Loss before taxation multiphed by the average standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 24 5% (2011 26 5%) (7,455) (8,721)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2,253 3,492
Capital allowances in advance of depreciation (46) 81
Other temporary differences (803) (270)
Tax losses not utiised 5,920 4,850
Eftect of Jersey tax at 0 0% 131 694
Deferred tax previously not recognised - (799)
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of previous perods (6) -
Change n tax rate - 60
Total income tax credit for the year (6) (613}

i Factors that may affect future tax charges

The standard rate of corporaticn tax in the UK changed from 26 0% to 24 0% with effect from 1 April
2012 Legslation was enacted to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 24 0% to 23 0% with effect
from 1 April 2013

On 5 December 2012, a reduction in the main rate of corporation tax from 23% to 21% with effect from 1
Apni 2014 was announced A further rate change was announced on 20 March 2013 in the 2013 Budget
Statement The main rate of corporation tax will be reduced and unified with the small profits rate of
corporation tax from 1 Apnl 2015 The new unfied corporation tax main rate will be 20% Legrslation will
be introduced 1n Finance Act 2013 to enact these rate changes As these rate changes had not been
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, their effects have not been included in these financial
statements

The proposed rate changes may affect future tax charges and reduce the deferred tax habiities In

addition, the uthsation of any tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised may affect
future tax charges
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12 Tax (continued)

v Deferred tax

UK deferred tax has been calculaled at the rates of tax at which assets / (labiities) are expected
to reverse based on enacted tax rates The net deferred tax recognised in the balance sheet is as
foliows

2012 2011

£'000 £000
At 1 January - {645)
Recognised duning the year - 645
At 31 December - -
The net deferred tax asset / (hability) compnses

2012 2011

£°000 £000
Tax losses carned forward 9,763 7,205
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances - 595
Short-term temporary differences (9,763) (7.800)

The deferred tax is presented net since the entities concerned have a right {0 set off current tax
assets agamnst current tax habilites and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty on the same taxable entity The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes

2012 2011

£°000 £'000
Deferred tax assets 9,763 10,751
Deferred tax labiities (9,763) {10,751)
The deferred tax asset not recogmised in the financial statements is as follows

2012 201

£'000 £000
Tax losses carned forward 26,251 25,888
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 3,161 2,741
Short-term temporary differences 2,303 1,061

31,715 29,690

A deferred 1ax asset has not been recognised in the financial statements due to the uncertainty
over the availlability of suitable future taxable profits against which the asset will reverse
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13 Intangible assets

Other

Computer Intangible
Cost Goodwill software assets Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2011 8,271 333 166 8,770
Additions - 185 - 185
Post-acquisihon goodwill adjustrment (88) - - (88)
At 1 January 2012 8,183 518 166 8,867
Additions - 1,401 - 1,401
Disposals - {(175) - {175)
At 31 December 2012 8,183 1,744 166 10,093

Other

Computer intangible
Accumulated amortisation and impairment Goodwill software assets Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
At 1 January 2011 3,179 207 - 3,386
Amortisation charge for the year - 57 - 57
Impairment charge for the year 33 - - 33
At 1 January 2012 3,212 264 - 3,476
Amortisation charge for the year - 249 33 282
Disposal - (33) - (33)
At 31 December 2012 3,212 480 33 3,725

Net book amount

At 31 December 2012 4,971 1,264 132 6,368
At 31 December 2011 4,971 254 166 5,391

At 1 January 2011 5,092 126 166 5,384

The amortisation charge for the year 1s included within the income statement within Administrative expenses
before exceptional items An analysis by ine item can be seen innote 5

1 Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination s allocated to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that
business combination CGUs are independent sources of iIncome streams and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which the associated goodwill 15 monttored for management purposes The carrying amount of
goodwill has been allocated to the following CGUs
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13 Intangible assets {continued)

2012 20M
£'000 £000
Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre 4,971 4,971

Goodwill 1s subject to impairment lesting annually, or more frequently where there are indications that the
goodwill may be impared The recoverable amounts of all CGUs are determined based on value in use
calculationsg, using pre-tax cash flow projections based on management approved five year financial forecasts
The key assumptions for these forecasts are those relating 1o revenue growth and decline, based on past
expenence and expectations of future changes in relevant CGUs The Group prepares cash flow forecasts
denived from the most recent inancial plans approved by management for the next five years Cash flows
beyond this period are extrapolated based on estimated growth rates that do not exceed the long term growth
rate Cash flows are discounted back to present value using a nsk adjusted pre-tax discount rate of 9 3%,
which represents an internally computed rate, based on gearng levels and loan interest rates

The management approved budgets for Circle's Notingham NHS Treatment Centre are based on historic
performance and the knowledge that Circle 1s the preferred bidder for contract renewal in July 2013 for a further
five years The value in use calculations are sensitive to changes In the key assumptions used, most notably
the pre-tax discount rate of 93% and the long-term growth rate of 2%, however it is estimated that a
reasonable change in key assumptions will not cause an impairment in the goodwill refated to Circle's
Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre The Goodwill has been carmed forward to the new contract as the view of
management s that this 15 a continuation of the existing activities of the CGU

u  Computer software

Computer software represents third party costs mcured in relation to the Group's information technology
systems Included within this category 1s £rit (2011 £175,000) spent on Manhattan, a relational database
software with specific abiibes for facilities management which was fully disposed of duning the year The wnite-
off appears as an income statement line within exceptional operating items In note 6

in  Other intangible assets

Cther mtangible assets include the development of know-how' for a new programme to build hospitals within a
shortened time frame This I1s achieved by utiising standard build components which have been manutactured
off site at a reduced cost and reducing the amount of build tme on site Dunng the year, the programme
reached full development and the amortisation has now commenced over a five year penod

Assets held under finance lease have the following net book amounts

2012 2011
000 £'000
Computer software 665 -

665 -

The additions during the year compnse lease agreemenis with Close Leasing Limited to finance the purchase
of information technology assets for the hospital in CircleReading
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14 Property, plant and equipment

Freehold Furniture,
and Leasehold fittings and
leasehold Assets under improve- Clinlcal office
Cost land construction ments  equipment equipment Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2011 9,024 1,712 1,041 1,764 14,220 27,761
Additions 10,677 2,600 204 814 462 14,757
Disposals - {1,025} (499) (1,1086) {230) {2,860)
At 1 January 2012 19,701 3,287 746 1,472 14,452 39,658
Additions - 2,537 134 6,522 1,232 10,425
Reclassifications - (2,201) 1,916 50 235 -
Disposals - (219) - (39) 2) (260)
At 31 December 2012 19,701 3,404 2,796 8,005 15,917 49,823
Freehaold Furniture,
and Leasehold fittings and
Accumulated depreciation leasehold Assets under improve- Chinical office
and impairment land construction ments  equipment equipment Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £'000 2'000
At 1 January 2011 4,493 1,077 539 935 12,778 19,822
Depreciation charge for the
year - - 116 308 766 1,180
Impairment charge for the year - - - - 30 30
Disposals - {1,025) {439} {361} (153) (1,978}
At 1 January 2012 4,493 52 216 882 13,421 19,064
Depreciation charge for the
year 35 - 179 615 656 1,485
Impairment charge for the year 2,181 314 1,853 47 219 4,614
Disposals - {201) - (13) (2) (216)
At 31 December 2012 6,709 165 2,248 1,531 14,294 24,947
Net book amount
At 31 December 2012 12,092 3,239 548 6,474 1 (;333 24,876
Al 31 December 2011 15,208 3,235 530 590 1,031 20,594
At 1 January 2011 4,531 635 502 829 1,442 7,939

The depreciation charge for the year 1s included in the income statement within Adminisirative expenses belore
exceptional items (note 5)

The reclassification from Assels under construction to vanous asset categones of £2,201,000 (2011 £nit) shows the
transfer of completed commissioning assets within CircleReading following the opening of the hospital in August 2012

Freehold and leasehold land have been valued at 31 December 2012 by a third party valuer This has resulted in an
impairment of the Manchester land of £2,181,000 Further impairments across various asset classes relate to the
CircleReading Commissioning asset of £2,119,000 and Bournemouth site of £314,000, where using pre-tax cash flow
projections based on management approved five year financial forecasts {alled to support the asset camying values The
impairment charge for the year i1s included in the income statement within Exceptional Operating ltems (note 6)

60




Circle Holdings plc¢

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets held under finance leases have the following net book amounts

2012 2011

£'000 £'000

Leasehald land 4,342 4,377
Chnical equipment 5711 -
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 923 230
10,976 4,607

The additions durning the year compnse vanous lease agreements with Ciose Leasing Limited and GE
Capital Equipment Finance Limited to finance the purchase of Information Technology (FT'} hardware
assets, fixtures, fittmgs and furniture, for the commissioning of the CircleReading hospital

Freehold and leasehold land can be spiit into the following net book amounts

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Freehold 8,650 10,831
Leasehold 4,342 4,377
12,992 15,208

15 Provision for joint venture deficit
2012 2011
£000 £'000
At 1 January (2,688) {1,762)
Increase in the year (259) (926)
At 31 December {2,947) (2,688}
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15 Provision for joint venture deficit (continued)

2012 2011

Group's share of net habilities of joint venture (38.7%) £'000 £'000
Non-current assets 13,572 13,571
Current assets 1,003 1,014
14,575 14,585

Current habihties {1,113) (15,902)
Non-current habilities (16,409) (1,371)

(17,522) (17,273)

Group's share of net habilihes (2,947) (2,688)

2012 2011
Group's share of results of joint venture (38 7%) £'000 £°000
Revenue 1,362 1,302
Operating expenses (39) (46)
Finance costs (1,582) (2,182)
Group's share of loss after tax of joint venture (259) {926)

The Group has one joint venture, Health Properties (Bath) Limited {'Health Properties Bath'), incorporated
in Jersey, which owns the CircleBath hospital building and land, and has a 25 year iease with CircleBath
Of the total allotted share capital of 3,000 ‘B’ shares and 100 'A’ shares in Health Properties Bath, the
Group holds 1,200 ‘B’ ordinary shares, Health Estates Limited holds 1,800 'B' shares and LB UK RE
Limited {in Administration) {'Lehmans’) ho!ds 100 'A' shares

The 'A’ shares and ‘B’ shares constitute different classes of shares for the purposes of law but, except as
expressly provided for in the Articles of Health Properties Bath and a joint venture Agreement, confer upon
the holders the same nghts and rank pan passu in all respects The maximum number of Directors shall,
unless otherwise determined by a special resolution, be six, of whom three shall be 'A' Directors
(representing the ‘A’ shareholders) and three shall be ‘B' Directors (representing the 'B’ shareholders)
Health Estates Limited has formally agreed to vote in accordance with the Group and that the 'B' Directors
of Health Properties Bath onginally appointed by the Group will not change as a result of Heaith Estates
Limited's shareholding In the absence of certain types of events of default, no party to the joint venture has
control as a resolution can only be made by the Board of Directors, with a majonty of Directors

As at 31 December 2012, the joint venture does not have any contingent habiliies or capital commitments
As at 31 December 2012, Group guarantees of up to £1,000,0600 (2011 £1,000,000) were provided to
Lehmans in respect of certain contractual obligations of Health Properties Bath

The cross-default under Circle International ple's (a subsidiary of the Company) equipment lease with GE,
tnggered by non-repayment of the mezzanine loan provided to Health Properties Bath, was wamved by GE
on 22 May 2012 following the completion of the restructuring of Health Properties Bath's financings  Under
the restructured terms, the Company has granted a final recourse guarantee to Lehmans in respect of the
repayment of the mezzanine debt, with the Company's hability under the guarantee being capped at
£625,000 The total guarantees provided to Lehmans are therefore £1,625,000 (2011 £1,000,000)
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16 Inventories
2012 2011
£°000 £'000

Consumables 1,298 o0

At 31 December 2012, an amount of £90,000 (2011 £2,000) has been provided against the gross cost of
inventones The cost of inventories recognised as an expense mn the year 1s £5,509,000 (2011
£5,338,000)

17 Trade and other receivables

Current Non-current

2012 2011 2012 2011

£000 £000 £'000 £000

Trade receivables 4,150 2,865 - -
Less allowance for impairment of trade receivables (131) (141) - -
Net trade recewvables 4,019 2,724 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 5,255 10,494 662 802
Other recervables 3,047 390 - -
Operating financial asset 41,991 1,012 - 41,991
Amounts recoverable on contracts 1,181 2,040 - 1,168
Amounts owed by Joint venture (note 33) 1,586 3,128 - -

57,079 19,788 662 43,961

The Dwectors consider the carnrying amount of trade and other receivables to approximate to therr far
value Long-term receivables have been discounted where the time value of money 1s considered to be
material using a nsk adjusted pre-tax discount rate of 9 3%

Operating financial assets are recognised to the extent that there 1s an unconditional nght to receive cash
from the construction of Circle's Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre through which the Group provides
healthcare services Due to the length of the payment plans, receivables are entered at the present value
of amortised costs The annual accumulation of interest on these discounted values 1s recorded as
finance iIncome {note 10) with the other porlion being deducted from receivables In accordance with the
pnnciples of IFRIC 12, beneficial ownership of the associated property asset lies with the purchaser of
services and not with the Group as provider of those services

Under the lease agreement for the Bath hospital a rental deposit of £1,586,000 (2011 £1,586,000) is held
by the joint venture This deposit 1s considered to be recoverable

The Group has advanced £1,200,000 (2011 £1,200,000) to Health Properties Bath by way of a
shareholder loan which 15 unsecured and payable on demand In addition the Group has recharged
expenses and accrued interest to Health Properties Bath to give a total receivable of £1,575,000 at 31
December 2012 (2011 £1,508,000) This has been fully impaired dunng the year as the balance 1s not
considered to be recoverable

The JCAM loan was repaid in full on 20 June 2012, resulting in the release of £2,400,000 of an advanced
payment of £6,240,000 made in 2011 The remainder had been used to settle interest accrued in the
interventng period
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17 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impawrment in respect of trade recevables during the year was as

follows
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 141 163
Released in the year {10) (22)
At 31 December 131 141
At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Not past due 1,968 1,917
Past due 0-30 days, but not impaired 1,363 445
Past due 31-60 days but not impaired 286 131
Past due by more than 60 days but not impaired 402 231
4,019 2,724

Trade receivables are non-interest beaning and credit terms are generally 30 days The above receivables

are overdue but not impaired because management believe they are fully recoverable

The movement in the operating financial asset i1s as follows

2012 2011

£'000 £000

At 1 January 43,003 44,015

Amounts received (1,012) (1,012)

At 31 December 41,991 43,003
At 31 December, the ageing analysis of the operating financial asset was as follows

2012 2011

£°000 £000

Due within 1 year 41,91 1,012

Due between 1 and 2 years - 41,991

41,991 43,003
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17 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The movement in amounts recoverable on contracts ts as follows 2012 2011

£'000 £'000
At 1 January 3,208 5,461
Recognised in income statement {note 5) (2,027) (2,253)
At 31 December 1,181 3,208

18 Cash and cash equivalents

2012 2011
Note £'000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents 38,029 26,004

Less restricted balances

- Minimum balance — GE and DoH a (1,300) (1,300)
- Letter of Credit — GE b (1,800) (1,800)
-  Commutted cash in respect of future interest on AlB loan c - (175)
- Hinchingbrooke deposit d (2,000) -
Restricted cash (5,100) (3,275)

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 32,929 22,729

The Cirectors consider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate to their fair value

Included in the Group cash balance are the following amounts which are not freely available to the Group

A condition of the ISTC contracts with the DoH and GE, who lease the medical equipment, 1s that a
minimum balance of £1,300,000 (201% £1,300,000) for Nations Healthcare (Nottingham} Limited 1s
maintained at each month end

As part of the contractual agreement with GE to provide operating leases to CircleBath, Circle
International plc has provided a counter indemnity to Barclays by way of a fixed charge over a
deposit of £1,800,000 (2011 £1,800,000) credited to a deposit account with the bank This will be
released at the end of 2014 when the Operaling leases expire

Durnng 2011, the AIB loan faciity was extended from March 2011 1o June 2012 As a result, an
amount of £354,000 was pawd into a restncted deposit account in respect of future interest payable
to AIB The balance at 31 December 2012 amounted to £mil (2011 £175,000)

Under the terms of the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust contract which commenced in
February 2012, Circle 1s required to pay up to £2,000,000 in termination costs to Hinchingbrooke As
part of the contract agreement these funds have been deposited in an escrow account held with
Barclays The balance at 31 December 2012 amounted to £2,000,000 (2011 £nil)

65




Circle Holdings pic

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

19 Trade and other payables Current Non-current
2012 2011 2012 2011

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000

Trade payables 9,128 9,646 - -
Deferred income 873 2,026 - -
Accruals 4,101 2,841 2,257 -
Social secunty and other taxation 842 681 - .
Amounts owed to joint venture (note 33) 34 34 - -
Amounts owed to other related parties (note 33) 128 65 - -
Contingent consideration 5 10 - -
15,111 15,303 2,257 -

Trade payables, accruals and amcunts owed tc joint ventures and other refated parties are unsecured and interest-
free

The Directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate to therr far value Long-term
payables have been discounted where the time value of money 1s considered to be matenial

On the acquisihion of Circle Clinic Wmdsor in 2008, contingent considerahon arose, based on annual revenues over
the five years from the date of acquisition and payable n annual instalments to David Evans These balances were
discounted te present value using a pre-tax rate of 9 3%, with the discount unwinding over the five years post-
acquisition During the year, the cash flow labiliies were reassessed based on actual and budgeted turnover over
the remaiming life of the agreement, less payments afready made during the year (note 20)

Movements in the balance of contingent consideration during the year have been as follows

2012 2011

£°000 £'000
At 1 January 10 a5
Reassessment of future cash flows - (15)
Unwind of discount on acquisition 5 -
Payments made (10) (0
At 31 December 5 10
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20 Loans and other borrowings

Current Non-current
2012 2011 2012 2011
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Barclays 41,768 920 - 41,701
AlB 7,380 7,380 - -
JCAM - 13,614 - -
Secured bank loans (1) 49,148 21,914 - 41,71
Unsecured loan notes (u) 348 316 - -
Secured finance leases (i) 1,340 (131) 10,664 4,558
50,836 22,099 10,664 45,259

i Secured bank loans

Loan

Loan Effective interest facility 2012 20114
Note commenced rate £'000 £'000 £'000
Barclays a July 2005 5 0% (swapped) 44,474 41,768 42,621
AlIB b March 2008 LLIBOR + 4 0% 7,380 7,380 7.380
JCAM ¢ August 2008 28 8% 13,300 - 13,614
49,148 63,615

The Directors consider the carrying amount of the Group's borrowings to approximate to their far value
Details of the Group's loans and any associated breaches are included i the notes below

a The Barclays Private Finance Intiative ('PF!') loan 1s secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over the
assets of Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre Barclays also have a charge over the shares of
Nations Healthcare (Nottingham) Limited that can be exercised in the event that it dees not meet its financra!
obligation to Barclays The loan 1s being repaid in quarterly instalments of £227,000 to £232,000, subject to
the repayment re-scheduling as agreed under the Deed of Vanation (DoV')

The Barclays PFl lcan of £41,768,000 (2011 £42,621,000) 1s not under any defaults or cross-defaults as at
31 December 2012 This loan will be extinguished in full on 1 July 2013 when the Group exercises therr
unconditional nght to receive cash from the construction of Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre At
this point the interest rate swap expires
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20 Loans and other borrowings (continued)
i  Secured bank loans (continued)

b The AIB loan facility 1s a term loan facility secured on land owned in Edinburgh The loan was
onginally for a one year term from 26 March 2008 The faciity was extended twice during 2009,
and subsequently duning 2010 the factity was agan exiended until 31 March 2011, increasing
the interest rate of the facility from LIBOR + 3 0% to LIBOR + 4 0% In March 2011, a further
extension of the loan matunty date was agreed, unti! 30 June 2012 The interest rate remains at
LIBOR + 4 0% tor the extension period but a requirement of the extension agreement was to pay
the entire interest amount into a restricted deposit account {note 18(c)) Interest charged during
the year has been taken to the income statement

The loan 1s secured on the assets of Health Properties (Edinburgh) Limited (‘Health Properties
Edinburgh’} Health Properties Edinburgh 1s in default of the £7,380,000 loan from AIB having
falled to repay the loan on the due date of 30 June 2012 The Directors of Health Properties
Edinburgh and AIB are negotiating terms of a standstill with a view to handing back the
Edinburgh land (carned at net book value of £3,500,000 in Freehold and leasehold land) to AIB
Having taken legal advice, the Directors believe that the loan 1s non-recourse to the Group

¢ The JCAM loan facihty of £13,300,000, together with rolled up interest of £831,000 gave a total
amount due at redemption of £14,131,000 This was repaid in full on 20 June 2012

1 Unsecured loan notes

Loan Etfective interest Loan facility 2012 2011
commenced rate £'000 £°000 £'000
Loan notes July 2008 n‘a n‘a 348 316

In relation to the acquisiion of Cirgle Clinic Windsor, the Group has 1ssued loan notes to the former
owners Dawvid Evans and Pat Morrish that mature over five years from the date of acquisitton and are
dependent on performance over that period The Directors believe the undiscounted values of these
loan notes are £274,000 (2011 £273,000) and £91,000 (2011 £81,000) respectvely These are
payable on 4 July 2013 and do not attract interest

The Loan Note Instrument, which determines the unsecured foan notes and contingent consideration
payable following the acquisition of Circle Climic Windsor, sets out covenants and guarantees related
to the acquisihion These covenants are currently in breach due to the net asset value of the
guarantor, Circle International ple, falling below £3,000,000 in 2009 and not being remedied within
10 days of the onginal default Owing to this breach, the balance had previously been classified as a
current iabiity Amounts are payable in July 2013

Movements in the balance of loan notes dunng the year have been as follows

2012 2011
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 316 364
Reassessment of future cash flows - (73)
Unwind of discount 32 25
At 31 December 348 316
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20 Loans and other borrowings (continued)
m  Finance leases

Finance leases compnse vanous lease agreements with Close Leasing Limted and GE Capital
Equipment Finance Limited to finance the purchase of Information Technology (IT') assets, fixtures,
fittngs and furmiture and medical equipment, for the commissioning of CircleReading hospital and the 125
year lease for land in Birmingham entered into with Pebble Ml Invesiments Lirmted {Pebble Mil') in
November 2011 In addition there I1s a three year lease for IT assets for the CircleBath hospital which
were sold to Singers Healthcare Finance Limited ('Singers’) In a sale and leaseback transaction in
December 2010

Gross finance lease liabilites - minimum lease payments 2012 2014
Falling due £'000 £'000
- Nolater than 1 year 2,279 204
- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 12,240 4,706
- Later than 5 years 1,187 1,197

15,706 6,107
Future finance charges on finance leases (3,702) {1,680)

12,004 4,427

The breakdown of the present value of finance leases 15 as follows 202 2011
Falling due £'000 £'000
- Nolaterthan 1 year 1,340 (131)
- Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 10,504 4,420
- Laterthan 5 years 160 138

12,004 4,427

The Group signed a finance lease commiiment with GE Capital Equipment Finance Limited on 11 June
2012 for a total facility of £5,000,000 to tease medical equipment over a five year period On 13 July 2012,
the Group signed a finance lease commitment with Close Leasing Limited for a total faciity of £2,000,000
to lease IT equipment and fixtures, fittings and furniture over a five year period

The Pebble Ml site lease habiities are unsecured but are guaranteed by Circle Holdings ple  The Group
can terminate the lease on 1 August 2046 or 1 August 2071 by giving at least six months written notice to
the landlord In addition, the Group has two opportumities to reduce the annual rent the first buy down
nght 1s within a period of five years from the date of the lease and the second buy down nght 1s within a
penod of six months prior to the first iease break date in 2046 Both instances require payment of a
premium calculated in accordance with a formula set out in the lease and adjusted using the RPI index
There are no covenants or restrictions on the Group imposed by this lease, and there are no contingent
rents

The value of the finance lease creditor of £4,920,000 (2011 £4,225,000) At 31 December 2011, the
implicit interest rate and the profile of the annual rent tn the early year of the lease lability inihally gave
nse to an interest charge greater than the rent payment, resulting in a debit balance n the less than cne
year category above

The Singers finance lease liabiities are effectively secured as the nghts to the leased asset revert to
Singers in the event of a defaull At the end of the iniial hire period, the Group 15 entitled to extend the
duration of the lease and pay an agreed secondary rental, or act as agent for the lessor in the sale of the
equipment There are no covenants or restrictions on the Group imposed by this lease, and there are no
contingent rents
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20 Loans and other borrowings {continued)

iv  Maturity profile

Under the terms of the loans, the amounts fall due as follows

2012

Barclays

AlB

Loan notes
Finance leases

2011

Barclays

AlB

JCAM

Loan notes
Finance leases

21 Provisions for other habilies and charges

Current
Non-current

At 1 January 2011

Charged to the income statement
Uthised dunng the year

At 1 January 2012

Charged to the income statement
Utlised dunng the year

Reallocation

At 31 December 2012

Lessthan1 Between 1-2 Between 2.3 Greater than
year years years 4 years Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
41,768 - - - 41,768
7,380 - - - 7,380
348 - - - 348
1,340 1,351 6,048 3,265 12,004
50,836 1,351 6,048 3,265 61,500

Lessthan1 Between1-2 Between 2-3 Greater than
year years years 4 years Total
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
920 41,701 - 42,621
7,380 - - - 7,380
13,614 - - - 13,614
316 - - - 316
(131) 4,402 18 138 4,427
22,099 46,103 18 138 68,358
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
2,468 924
189 707
2,657 1,631

Onerous Onerous Under

leases leases declared
Dilapidations {property) (equipment) VAT Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
- 1,194 16 - 1,210
450 549 - - 999
- (562) {16} - {578)
450 1,181 - - 1,631
- 239 - 1,500 1,739
- (713) - - (713
202 (222) - . .
672 485 - 1,500 2,657
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21 Prowvisions for other liabilities and charges (continued)
Dilapidations

This provision relates to the expected cost of retuming various leased properties to their former state when
the Group exits the leases

Onerous leases (property)

A lease for a property in West London was taken on in 2006, but since the premises are no longer required
by the Group, the site has been used 1o earn additional advertising revenue from the prime advertising
space on lop of the bulding and rental income from renting out office space The provision of £195,000
(2011 £1,027,000) has been calculated based on the total net costs expected 10 be incurred by the Group
until the first opportunity to exit the lease arrangement i Apnl 2013

A lease for a property in Ashford, Kent was incepted in 2008, but since the premises are no longer required
by the Group, management intends to either sub-let the vacant premises or ext the lease early.
Management i1s currently negotiating with potential tenants and the provision of £290,000 (2011 £154,000)
has been calculated based on the total net costs expected to be incurred by the Group until the first
opportunity to sub-let the property

Under declared VAT

Management have performed a review of the VAT accounting within the Group and 1s in consultation with
HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) on the outcomes of this review HMRC are stll assessing
management's posiion The Director's estimate this under declared VAT amounts to £1,500,000 including
penalties and fines

22 Denvative financial instruments

Barclays

interest

rate swap

£'000

At 1 January 2011 3,494
Gain in farr value credited to income staterment (1,019)
At 1 January 2012 2,475
Gain n far value credited to iIncome statement {1,362)
At 31 December 2012 1,113
Effective interest rate 50%

At 31 December 2012, the notional amounts on the interest rate swap contract, which take the interest rate
from floating to fixed, were £41,806,000 (2011 £42,727,000) Note 32 provides more detalls
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23 Share capital and share premium

Authorised 2012 201
£'000 £000

Ordinary shares of £0 02 each 2,000 2,000
Number Number

Number of authonsed shares 250,000,000 100,000,000

Allotted and fully paid up

Share Other
Shares Share capital premium reserve Total

(humber) £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000
Ordinary shares
At 1 January 2011 4,248,300 425 111,680 - 112,105
Shares 1ssued - March 2011 £0 10 234,375 23 2277 - 2,300
Shares 1ssued - May 2011 £010 1,783,722 179 13,448 - 13,627

6,276,397 627 127,405 - 128,032
Five-for-one share spht £002 31,381,984 627 127,405 - 128,032
Shares 1ssued - June 2011 (net of
costs) £002 16,633,552 333 21,143 - 21,476
Shares 1ssued from warranis - June
2011 £0 02 14,755,513 295 - 22,182 22,477
Al 1 January 2012 62,771,049 1,255 148,548 22,182 171,985
Shares 1ssued - 18 June 2012 {net of
costs) £0 02 78,465 2 . - 2
Shares 1ssued - 19 June 2012 {(net of
costs) £002 67,857,143 1,357 44,597 - 45,8954
At 31 December 2012 130,706,657 2,614 193,145 22,182 217,941

On 18 June 2012, the Group 1ssued, at nominal value, an aggregate of 78,465 ordinary shares of £0 02 each in the capital of
the Company to Nen-Executive Directors pursuant to individual share awards

On 19 June 2012, the Group received £47,500,000 (before fees) of equity investment Of the total consideration receved,
£1,357,000 has been allocated to share capitat {67,857,143 ordinary shares at £0 02 each) and £44,597,000 to share premium
In addition, the Group received £2,000 from the altocation of shares to Non-Executive Directors

Transaction cosls incurred dunng the 2012 equity raise totalled £1,546,000 (31 December 2011 £4,336,000), of which
£1,546,000 (31 December 2011 £3,806,000) have been taken to share premium The 2011 proceeds are net of a warrant
hability of £9,332,000

In March 2011, the Group received £7,500,000 of equity investment from existing shareholders Of the total consideration
received, £23,000 was allocated to share capital (234,375 ordinary shares at £0 10 each), £2,277,000 to share premum,
£2,959,000 to financial habiites, being the warrants attached to the shares ssued (nole 26), and £2,241,000 allocated to
retained deficit
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The following 1able detaits the movemeni in share capital in the year ending 31 December 2012 by major shareholder

At1 18 June 2012 19 June 2012 Additional At31

January {at £0 02 issue(at purchases/ December

Number 2012 each) £0 02 each) {sales) 2012
Health Trust 3,136,180 - - - 3,136,180
Balderton Capital 10,613,677 - 2,142,857 - 12,756,534
Lansdowne Partners 18,170,570 - 19,796,438 - 37,967,008
BlackRock 8,051,993 - - {873,438} 7,178,555
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 - . - 9,252,685
QOdey Asset Management 10,394,930 - 17,142,857 341,000 27,878,787
JCAM 479,800 - - (479,800} .
Invesco Perpetual - - 28,571,420 1,797,500 30,368,920
Other 2,671,214 78,465 203,571 (785,262) 2,167,988
62,771 049 78,465 67,857,143 - 130,706,657

The following table detalls the movement in share capital in the year to 31 December 2011 by major shareholder

March 2011 May 2011

At1 issue (at Issue (at  Incremental June 2011 Health Partners Additionat
January £32.00 £1115 flve-for-one  Junae 2011 issue Limited purchases / At 31

Number 201 sach) oach) spllt  issue (IPO) (warrants) transior {sales) December 2011
Health Partners
Limted 985,610 (179,187) - 3,225,692 - . (895,935) - 3,136,180
Balderton Capital 921,938 40,275 - 3,848,852 3,289.474 2,399.648 113,485 5 10,613,677
Lansdowne
Partners 964,192 223,165 - A4,749,428 7,236,842 4,554,948 441,995 - 18,170,570
BlackRock 665,234 90,477 - 3022844 1,973,684 2,107,930 218,010 (26,186) 8,051,993
BlueCrest Capital
Management 417,018 59,645 448,431 3,700,373 1,973,684 2,531,091 122,445 {2} 9,252,685
Odey Asset
Management - - 1,345291  5381,166 506,579 3,161,896 - (2 10,394,930
JCAM 85,960 - - 383,840 - - - - 479,800
QOther 198,348 . - 793,392 1,653,289 - - 26,185 2,671,214

4,248,300 234375 1,793,722 25,105587 16,633,552 14,755,513 - - 62,771,049
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24 Non-controlling interest

Circle Health
Health Properties Total
£000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2011 (8,789) (368) {9,157)
Effect of shares vesting in penod {1,438) - {1,438)
Fair value of shares 1ssued to Health Partners Limited (2,204) - {2,204}
Winding up of Health Properties Benefit Trust (1,203) 368 (835)
Effect of Nations Healthcare Group restructure {2,383) - (2,383)
Effect of anti-dilutive shares 1ssued to Health Partners Limited (535) - (535)
Non-controlling interest's share of losses (3,618) - (3,618)
At 1 January 2012 (20,170) - {20,170)
Effect of shares vesting in penod (1,920) - (1,920)
Nen-controlling interest's share of losses (4,998) - (4,998)
At 31 December 2012 _ (ero88) - (27,088)

Circle Health Limited

Crrcle Health Limited (which has an authorised share capital of 100,000 ordminary shares of £0 10 nominal
value that give equal rnghts to the voting, dvidend and capital of the company), 1s 50 1% owned by Circle
International plc and 49 9% owned by Circle Partnership, an entty that operates an employee share
ownership plan which therefore represents an interest outside the Group (note 26} Circle Partnershup has an
authorised share capital of 100,000,000 (2011 100,000,000) ordinary shares of £0 01 nominal value that give
equal nghts to the voting, dividend and capital of the company

As required under SIC 12 ‘Consolidation special purpose entities’, the results of Circle Partnership have been
consoldated into the Group financial statements as Circle Health 1s deemed to effectively control Circle
Partnership

The number of shares in Circle Partnership that had vested unconditionally as at 31 December 2012
amounted to 44,193,432 shares (2011 26,608,000 shares) As at 31 December 2012, Circle Partnership had
1ssued subscription letters for a total 35,052,963 shares (2011 restated 23,407,650 shares) to employees and
climcians Unconditionally vested shares gives nse to the non-controlling interest in the results of the Circle
Health Group, which also mcludes Circle Parinership’s indirect helding in the Natons Group, which 1s 100 0%
{2011 100 0%) owned by Circle Health

Nations Healthcare Group

The effect of the Nations Healthcare Group restructure in October 2011, which has increased Circle
Parinership’s indirect holding n the Natiens Group from 30 9% 1o 49 9%, on the non-controlling mterest's
share of prior year losses was £2,383,000

Health Properties Limied

Prior to August 2011, Health Properties Limited (‘Health Properites’) was 90 0% owned by the Group and
10 0% owned by Health Properties Benefit Trust, an employee share ownership trust for the employees of
Health Properties In August 2011, the Health Properties Benefit Trust was wound up and all trust
beneficiaries forfeited ther shares in this scheme in exchange for shares in the Circle Parnership share
scheme As a result, there 1S no longer a non-controlling interest in Health Properties Circle Hoidings plc now
owns 100 0% of the share capital in Health Properties, comprising 1,000,000 A ordinary shares at £0 001 and
9,000 B ordinary shares at £1 00 each

The effect of the winding up of the Health Properties share scheme on the non-controlling interest's share of
2011 was £835,000

74




Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

24 Non-controlling interest (continued)

Health Partners Limited

On 15 March 2011 some of the existing shareholders, together with Circle Health, Circle Partnership and
Health Partners Limited (‘Health Partners'’), entered into a Share Transfer Agreement whereby Health
Partners transferred a percentage of its holding in Circle Holdings plc to the existing shareholders (note
33(h))

The transfer of these shares was conditional on Circle Health confirming 1t would allot shares in Circle
Parinership to Health Partners As such, on 15 March 2011 and 24 May 2011, Circle Partnership agreed to
1ssue ordinary shares of £0 01 to Health Partners, equal to an aggregate 10 0% of the 1ssued share capital
in Circle Partnership Alongside the 1ssuance of these shares at par value, it was agreed that in the event
that Circle Partnership allotted any further shares, Health Partners would be entitled to the same
proportion, so that its 10 0% holding was not diluted Circle Partnership 1ssued 3,505,296 shares to Health
Trust (Jersay), which represents as of 31 December 2012 10% of the issued share capital of Circle
Partnership
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25 Warrants

The Group 1ssues warrants which give the holders the nght 1o purchase shares for a spectic price at a tulure date The
warrants are treated either as equity nstruments and recorded in the warmrant reserve, or as financial liabilittes and
recorded in habilies, depending on certain cniena, as outlined in the Group's accounting policies There are no remamning
warrants 1ssued as financial habilites

Warrants treated as equity instruments

Movements in the warrant reserve during the year are as follows

2012 2011
€000 £000
At 1 January 21,475 19,878
Share-based charges in respect of warrants issued (hote 26) 915 1,597
At 31 December 22,350 21,475

The tfollowming table details all share warrants 1ssued by the Group which are recogrised in equity, none of which have been
exercised to date

Warrant reserve

At1 Share- At
Exercise Onglnal Revised January based December
pnce warrants Moditied warrants 2012 charges 2012
Beneficiary £ (number) (number)  {number) £'000 £'000 £000
Warrants 1ssued 1n 2008
— Balderton Capital b £152 523,460 - 523,460 4,111 - 4111
— Lansdowne Partners b £152 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
- JCAM £10 31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1,616
Warrants 1ssued in 2009
— Balderten Capital b £152 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
— Lansdowne Partners b £152 172,355 - 172,355 479 - 479
= BlueCrest Capital
Management b £162 75,510 - 75,510 298 - 296
Warrants modified in 2011
- Health Trust (Jersey) a £1 52 - 2,340,765 2,340,765 13,515 915 14,430
1,282,240 2,340,765 3,623,008 21,475 915 22,390
a The cancellation of the warrants 1ssued to Health Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust {Jersey) - opticn pool and re-issue of
warrants to Health Trust {Jersey) are detailed in note 26
b In May 2011 after IPO the existing share warrants, which consisted of warrants 1ssued in 2008 and 2009 to Health

Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust (Jersey) option pool were modfied adjusting both the exercise price and vesting
conditions Under the terms of the modiication the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants issued
exclusively to Health Trust (Jersey), of which All Parsa 1s a beneficiary, and the exercise price was set to the IPO price
of £1 52 per new ordinary share 1ssued The modified share warrants do not have any expiry date or any conditions
attached A far value assessment was completed based on the value of the existing warrants pnor to IPO and the farr
value of the modified warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis using the parameters outhned
on the next page The incremental farr value of the modification 1s recogrused on a straight-hne basis over a 24 month
penod from May 2011, in line with the revised vesting timetable (1/24 every month from May 2011) The warrants
charge for the year therefore includes 12 months' charge relating to the incremental farr value in addition 1o the residual
income statement charge relating to the far value at the grant date of the onginal 2008 and 2009 warrants, with the
2008 tranche becoming fully vested dunng the year

76




Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

26 Share-based charges

Shares and share warrants are 15sued to employees and climicians and external investors who contnbute to the
success and growth in value of the Group The issuance of these warrants and shares, including the 1ssue of
shares to scheme participants and employees, guakfies as equity-setiled share-based payment transachons and
falls within the scope of IFRS 2 'Share-based payment The impact on the income statement in respect of share-
based charges 15 as follows Note there 1s no charge associated with the transaction where the employees

subscnibe for the shares at full market value

Issued by Circle Partnershup Limited
Awarded to Health Trust (Jersey) b Warrants 915 1,597
Awarded to Non-Executive Directors

2012 2011
Note Type £000 £000

[

Shares - -

[+]

Shares 96 -

1,011 1,597

Circle Partnership Limited

Circle Parinership Limited was established in 2008 as an employee share ownership plan and currently
owns 49 9% of the shares in Circle Health It enables the participants (Group employees and climicians) who
contribute to the success and growth in value of Circle Health to be owners of the business The participants
are 1ssued shares in Circle Partnership which are held by the Circle Partnership Benefit Trust 10% of Circle
Partnership 1s directly owned by Health Trust (Jersey)

Under the scheme, shares are awarded on deferred payment terms The purchase price for the shares
becomes payable upon the occurrence of certain events, including the completion of a sale of the shares by
a participant The subscription price for the shares i1s the Fair Market Value (FMV') as determined by an
independent valuahon and as such, there is no share-based charge

Health Trust (Jersey)

In May 2011 new share warrants were tssued exclusively to Health Trust (Jersey), of which Al Parsa 1s a
beneficiary, replacing the share warrants previously issued to Health Trust {Jersey) and Health Trust
{Jersey) option pool Under the terms of the new warrants, the exercise pnce was set to the IPO price of
£1 52 per new ordinary share 1ssued The 2,340,765 share warrants vest over a 24 month period from May
2011 and are exercisable from the date they vest (1/24 every month from May 2011) and do not have any
expiry date A far value assessment was completed based on the value of the existing warrants prior to
cancellation and the fair value of new warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis
using the parameters outlined on the next page

Non-Executive Directors

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan for ts Non-Executive Directors The
entity recewves services from these Directors as consideration for shares in the Group The fair value of the
services received In exchange for the grant of the awards 1s recognised as an expense The total amount to
be expensed 1s determined by reference to the fair value of the awards granted

Non-market performance and service condittons are included 1in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to vest The total expense s recognised over the vesting period, which 1s the penod over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be sahsfied At the end of each reporting penod, the
Group revises its estmates of the number of optiens that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting conditions It recognises the impact of the revision to onginal estimates, if any, in the ncome
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity When the vesting conditions are met, the company
issues new shares The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium
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Modified warrant 1ssue parameters (reflecting five-for-one share spht)-

Stock price £152
Exercise price £152
Expected volatihty* 50 0%
Risk free interest rate 5 0%
Warrant life** 10 years
Fair value of warrant £102

* The historical volatifity is assumed to be indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome
** The life of the warrant 1s based on the expected term and 1s not necessanly indicative of exercise patterns that may occur

The incremental increase in the fair value was assessed at £1,478,000 and s being charged to the
income statement over the remawing vesting pericd along with the residual charge relating to the
far value at the grant date of the inttial warrants  The share-based charge recognised m the income
statement for the year to 31 December 2012 1s £915,000 (2011 £1,597,000) with the credit betng
recogrused in the warrant reserve There were no new warrant issues qualfying as share-based
charges dunng 2012 (2011 nif) and none of the warrants were exercised n 2012 (2011 )

Movements in the number of warrants outstanding and their related weighted average exercise
pnces are as follows

2012 2012 2011 2011

Average Average

Warrants  exercise price Warrants  exercise price

(number) (£ per share) {number) (€ per share)

At 1 January 2,340,765 152 468,153 5155
Five-for-one share spht - - 1,872,612 (41 24)
Modification - - - (8 79)
At 31 December 2,340,765 152 2,340,765 152
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27  Capital commitments
At 31 December 2012, the Group had capital commitmenis as follows

2012 2011
£000 £°000
Contracted for but not provided n these financial statements - -

28 Pension commitments

The Group participates in two personal defined contribution pension schemes for its employees The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds The
contnbutions by the Group for the year were £779,000 (2011 £228,000) As at 31 December 2012
outstanding contnbutions totalled £83,000 {2011 £27,000)

29 QOperating lease commitments

The Group has entered into various non-cancellable operating leases of equipment, land and buildings with
varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal nghts The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Plant and machinery Land and bwildings

2012 2011 2012 2011

£'000 £°000 £°000 £ 000

No later than 1 year 3,129 4,226 9,106 4,724
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 483 3,614 36,113 15,761
Later than 5 years - - 194,459 63,725
3,612 7.840 239,678 84,210

On 7 June 2012 the Group entered into an operating lease in respect of the CircleReading hosprtal for 25
years at an imital annual rent of £4,750,000 per year with six months rent free in the first year There 1s an
annual rent step-up of 3% In years 2, 3, 4 and 5 and thereafter an annual upwards only index linked review
(subject to a cap of 5% and floor of 2%)

In 2011 non-repayment of the mezzanine lpan provided to Health Properties Bath tnggered a cross-default
under Cicle International plc's equipment lease with GE  The default was waived by GE on 22 May 2012
tollowing a restructuning of the mezzanine loan
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30 Net cash outflow from operating activities

2012 2011

£'000 £'000
Loss before taxation (30,430) (32,924)
Provision for joint venture deticit 259 926
Exceptional finance items (866) 10,097
Finance costs 5,244 6,809
Finance mcome (3,513) (3,454)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 1,485 1,190
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 13) 282 57
Charge recogmised in respect of amounts recoverable under contract
(note 17) 2,027 2,253
Disposal of intangible assets (note 13} 142 -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 14) 4,614 30
Share-based charges n respect of warrants 1ssued (note 26) 915 1.597
Share-based charges in respect of awards to Non-Executive Directors 96 -
(note 26}
Revaluation of Birmingham finance lease payments 572 -
Non-cash element of CircleReading pre-opening expenses 647 -
Provision for VAT 1,500 -
Restructuring Costs 650 -
Profit on cessation of contract to run Circle’s Burton NHS Treatment
Centre - (1,493)
Increase in provision for onerous leases 239 -
Provision of debter with Health Properties Bath 1,575 -
Other exceptional items - (13)
Movements in working capital
- {Increase) / decrease in inventories {397) 283
- Increase in trade and other receivables (1,818) (3,968)
—  Increase / {decrease) in trade and other payables 501 {5,386}
~  (Decrease)/ increase In provisions {(713) 421
Net cash outflow from operating activities (16,989) (23,575)
31 Reconciliation and analysis of net debt

2012 201

£'000 £'000
Increase In unrestricted cash in the year 10,200 14,607
Increase / (decrease) in restrncted cash in the year 1,825 {925)
Repayment of borrowings 12,604 5,922
Proceeds from borrowings - (5,000)
Repayment of finance lease 674 44
Movement In net debt from cash flow 25,303 14,648
Other non-cash movements {6,420) (4,632)
Movement in net debt 18,683 10,016
Net debt at 1 January (42,354) {52,370)

(42,354)

Net debt at 31 December (23,471)
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31 Reconcihation of net debt {continued)

2012

Liquid resources

Unrestricted cash
Restncted cash

Debt due within one year
AlB

Barclays

JCAM

Loan notes

Finance leases

Debt due after one year
Barclays
Finance leases

Net debt

2011

Liguid resources
Unrestricted cash
Restneted cash

Debt due within one year
AlB

Barclays

JCAM

Loan notes

Finance leases

Debt due after one year

Barclays
Finance leases

Net debt

Other non- At 31

Cash Reclassifi- cash December

At 1 January flow cations changes 2012
£000 £°000 £°000 £'000 £'000
22,729 10,200 - - 32,929
3,275 1,825 - - 5,100
{7,380) - - - (7,380)
{920) 220 {41,701) {87) (41,768)
{(13,614) 11,684 - 1,930 -
(318) - - (32) (348)
131 674 {103) {2,042) (1,340)
{41,701} - 41,701 - -
(4,558) - 103 {6,209) (10,664)
(42,354) 25,303 - (6,420) (23,471)
Other non- At 31

Cash cash December

At 1 January flow  Transters changes 2011
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
8,122 14,607 - - 22,729
4,200 (925} - - 3,275
{7,380) - - - (7,380)
(922) 922 (920) - (920)
(13,224) - - (390) (13,614)
(364) - - 48 (316)
(76) 44 (67) 230 131
(42,556) - 920 {65) {41,701)
(170) - 67 {4,455) {4,558)
(52,370} 14,648 - {4,632) (42,354)

Non-cash movements include the following

- Amortisation of £67,000 (2011 £65,000) of Barclays loan 1ssue cosls that are set off aganst the
loan and spread over the life of the loan

- Unwinding of equity portion of the JCAM loan, £1,930,000 (2011 expense of £390,000}

- Reassessment of future cash flows resulting in £ntl increase 1n loan notes owing (2011 £73,000

decrease), offset by unwinding of discount on acquisition of £32,000 (2011 £25,000)

- Recognibon of Reading finance lease (note 20) of £7,679,000 at incephion (£1,873,000 and
£5,806,000) and an exceptional charge to the Birmengharmn finance lease {note 6) of £572,000
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32 Financial risk management

i Financial risk factors

The Group's operations expose It to a vanety of financial nsks that include price risk, credit risk, quidity nsk and
interest rate nsk The Group seeks to hmit the adverse effects of these nsks by momitoring levels of debt finance
and the related finance costs, and by matching the risks of the financing with the nsks and return profiles of the
assets The nsks are monitored by management throughout the year wvia monthly reviews of operational
performance, cash flows, levels of individual debt instruments and overall debt levels

Classes of financial instruments

The Group's financial mstruments comprise financial assets such as cash, short-term deposits, trade and other
receivables, and financial habiliies such as bank loans, loan notes, trade and other payables [n addition, the
Group s party to interest rate swaps to manage the Group's Interest rate nsks ansing from the Group's sources of
finance

The following tables classify the Group’s financial tnstruments according to IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments,
recegnition and measurement’

Fair value
through
Loans and profit and Amortised
As at 31 December 2012 recelvables loss cost Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Trade and cther recervables (note 17) 50,643 - - 50,643
Cash and cash equivalents (note 18) 38,029 - - 38,029
Total financial assets 88,672 - - 88,672
Fimancial liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 19) - - (9,167) (9,167)
Denvative financial instruments (note 22) - {1,113) - {1,113)
Bank loans (note 20) - - (49,148) (49,148)
Loan notes (note 20) - - (348) {348)
Finance lease habilihes (note 20) - - (12,004) {12,004)
Total financial lrabilities - (1,113) (70,667) (71,780)
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32 Financial risk management (continued)
Classes of financial instruments (¢continued)

As at 31 December 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other recewables {note 17}
Cash and cash equivalents (note 18)

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables {note 19)
Denvative financial instrurments (note 22)
Bank loans (note 20)

Lean notes {note 20}

Finance lease habihties (note 20)

Total financial abilittes

a Market nisk

Fair value
through
Loans and profit and Amortised

recelvables loss cost Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
49,245 - - 49,245
26,004 - - 26,004
75,249 - - 75,249
- - {9.690) {9,690)
- (2,475) - (2,475)
- - {63,615) {63,615)
- - (316} (318)
- - {4,427) (4,427)
- (2,475) {78,048) (80,523)

Market nsk 1s the nsk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates or other price nisks, will affect the
income from or the value of inancial instruments The objective of market nsk management 1s to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return on nsk

The Group is primanly impacied by interest rate nsk and other price nsks which are outhined below

1) Interest rate risk

Financial instruments affected by interest rate nsk include bank Ioans, short-term deposits and denvative
financial instruments The Group s primanly sensitive 1o changes n UK interest rates This affects future
cash flows from short-term cash deposits and the cost of vanable rate debt The Group manages this nsk,
where significant, by holding long-term loans and entening tnto interest rate swaps in order to fix the interest
payable on these As at 31 December 2012, 87 4% (2011 88 7%) of the Group's {can and borrowings were
either held under fixed rate terms or fixed by interest rate swaps (note 20} Short-term deposits held at
floating rates of interest represented 28 2% (2011 22 2%} of total assets of the Group

The following table summanses the fixed and varniable rate loans, and their effective interest rate

At 31 December 2012
Loans and other borrowings

At 31 December 2011
Loans and other borrowings
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Variable Fixed Interest-free Total
£°000 £°000 £'000 £000
7,380 53,772 348 61,500
7,380 60,662 316 68,358
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32
a

b

Financial risk management (continued)
Market risk {continued)
1) Interest rate risk {continued)

The following derivative contracts were in place at the reporting date

Effective MNotlonal Carrying
Counter Interestrate  Maturity date amount value
party Yo £000 £'000 £°000
At 31 December 2012
Interest rate swaps Barclays 50% 27 Jul 13 41,806 1,113
At 31 December 2011
Interest rate swaps Barclays 50% 27 Jul 13 42,727 2,475

A change of 100 basis points (bp'} in interest rates for the reporting pericd would have increased /
(decreased) equity and reported results by the amounts shown below The directors believe that a change of
100bp represents a reasonable sensitivity of the Group's interest rate risk The analysis assumes that all
other variables remain constant

Profit or loss Equity
100 bp 100bp 100 bp 100bp
increase decrease increase decrease
£000 £'000 £°000 £'000
At 31 December 2012
Variable rate bank loans (74) 74 - -
Net sensitivity {74) 74 - -
At 31 December 2011
Vanable rate bank loans (74) 74 - -
Net sensitivity (78) 74 - -

The directors beheve that a change of 100bp represents a reasonable sensitivity of the Group's interest rate
nsk The rest of the debt m the Group 1s either fixed rate debt or has been fixed by means of a floating to
fixed interest rate swap There 15 a zero effect of a change in interest rate on this debt A vanation in interest
rates on the cash balances would not give nse to a significant change in value and therefore have not been
in¢luded in the table above

2) Other price nsks

The Group has a number of long-term contracts containing fixed indexation prowisions The Group generally
seeks to price contracts at levels that take account of increasing prices As the volume of private patients 15
anticipated to increase, the Group will be increasingly subject to pricing changes from private insurance
companies

Credit risk

Credit sk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arnises principally from the Group's receivables from customers and cash
depaesits, with therr maximum exposure being represented by their carrying amount
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32 Fmnancial nsk management (continued)
b Credit nisk (continued)

The Group has policies with customers that require upfront payment, where appropniate Credit control procedures
are designed to ensure that invoiced revenue 15 collected according to agreed terms, that policies exist 1o limut
exposure to any one party and ensure approved credit hmits are reviewed regularly These all help to eliminate
significant concentrations of credit nsk

Most revenues anse from msured patients’ business and the NHS Insured patients give nise to trade receivables
which are mamnly due from large insurance institutions, who have high credit worthiness The remainder of
revenues anse from individual self-pay patients

Due to the nature of the monthly mimimum take Nottingham ISTC contract with the DoH and the interest rate swap
on the Barclays PFI loan, there i1s no matenal price or credit nsk exposure for Circle’s Nottingham NHS Treatment
Centre

When utiising bank accounts and cash deposits, the Group transacts with counterparties who have sound credit
profiles Such counterparties are primanly large, highly rated financial insttuttons In relation to financial institutions,
the Group allocates a credit lmit based on external credit ratings The counterparty's total outstanding transactions
with the Group including bank accounts and cash deposits must not exceed imits agreed by the Board of Birectors

c Ligqudity nsk

Liguidity nsk is the nisk that the Group will encounter difficulty iIn meeting its financial obligations as they fall due
The Group's approach to iquidity 1s to manage short and long-term borrowings to ensure that it will always have
sufficient hquidity to meet its habilihes when due, without incurnng unacceptable losses or risk damaging the
Group's reputation

This 1s actueved by robustly managing cash generation across its operations, by applying cash collection targets
throughout the Group and by managing quidity nsk via long-term debt and equity funding from shareholders

The Group has received strong support from its shareholders who have provided eguity cash funding when
necessary to fund the Group’s actwvities These funds have been utilised to support the business plans of the Group
n accordance with the Group’s financial projections which are updated on a regular basis

The table below analyses the Group's non-denvative and dervative financial liabihities into relevant maturty
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contract maturty date The amounts
included in the table are the contractuval undiscounted cash flows

Lass than 1 Between Between Between Between Over 5

At 31 December 2012 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4.5 years years

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £°000 £000

Trade and other payables {9,167) - - - - -

Bank loans {49,148) - - - - -
Derwvative fimancial

nstruments (1,113 - - - -

Finance leases (2,279) (2,160) (6,650) {1,801) (1,629) (1,187)

Loan notes (348) - - - - -

Net outflows (62,055) (2,160) (6,650) (1,801) (1,629) {1,187)
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32 Financial nsk management {continued)
c Liquidity risk (continued)

Less than Between Between Between Between Over5

At 31 December 2011 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years years

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £°000

Trade and other payables (9,690) - - - - -

Bank loans {12,631) (57.256) - - - -
Dernvative financial

instruments (1,528) {1,119) - - - -

Finance leases (204) {4,676) (10) (10 {10) {1,197)

t.oan notes (364) - - - - -

Net outflows (24,417) (63,051) (10) (10) (10) {1,197)

Included n the previcus table are the cash flows in respect of the Birmingham lease As outlined in note
20{m}, there are various buy down options over the term of the lease and management's intention has been
reflected in the cash flows set out above

The nsk that the outflow of cash occurs significantly earlier than the matunty analysis disclosed or for a
significantly different amount than those indicated 1s mitigated by the fact that the trade payables are due
imminently, and the principal and interest on the bank loans (and corresponding derivative financial
instrument) are contractua!l obligations whose timings are clearly defined and fixed unless a breach of
covenant takes place

[} Capital risk

The pnimary objective of the Group’s management of debt and equity 1s to ensure the continued growth of
the business, including the financing of new hospitals, equipment and start-up costs, including Head Office
overheads, in order to provide returns for the Group shareholders, Circle Partnership and other
stakehclders The Group raises financing when needed through a combination of equity and debt

Objectives are set out at the beginning of each year in line with the imposed requirements of the
shareholder agreements Covenants are tested monthly

1} Fair value

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determiming and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments
by valuation technique

Level 1  quoted prices in active markets

Level2 nputs cther than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
Iratulity, esther directly (as pnces) or indirectly {denved from prices) This level includes the
majonty of Over The Counter derivative contracts, traded loans and structured debt The sources
of input parameters ke LIBOR yeld curve or counterparty credit nsk are Bloomberg and
Reuters

Level 3 nputs of the asset or hability that are not based on cbservable market data
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m  Fair value (continued)

The following table presents the Group's assets and habilities that are measured at fair value

At 31 December 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities £000 £7000 £'000
Interest rate swap {note 22) 1,113 -

1,113 -
At 31 December 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Liabilities £'000 £000 £'000
Interest rate swap (note 22) 2,475 -

2,475 -

33 Related party transactions

Subsidiaries and joint ventures

Details of the investments in which the Group holds 20 0% or more of the nominal value of any class of share

capital are as follows

Name of company Holding Nature of business
Circle International ple Ordinary shares Holding and
management
Health Properties Limited Ordinary shares Holding and
management
Healih Estates Managers Ordinary shares Fund services
Lirmited (JFSC** registered)
Health Capital Lirmted Ordinary shares Holding and
management
Circle Health Limited® Ordinary shares Holding and
management
Circle Clirics Ltd* Ordinary shares Medical practice
services
Windsor Hand Surgery Limited® Ordinary shares Medical practice
services
Nations Healthcare Limited* ‘A’ Ordinary shares  Holding and
management
Nations Healthcare Limited* 'C' Preferred shares  Holding and
management

Nations Healthcare

Ordinary shares

Medical practice

{Nottingham) Limited* services
Nations Healthcare (Burton) Ordinary shares Medical practice
Limited*® services

* subsidiary held indirectly

** Jersey Financial Services Commission
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Proportion of
voting rights
held

100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
100 0%
50 1%
50 1%
50 1%
50 1%

n/a

50 1%

50 1%

Country of
incorporation

United Kingdom

Jersey

Jersey
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom
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33 Related party transactions (continued)

Principal subsidiaries and joint ventures (continued)

Name of company

Nations Healthcare (North
Bradford) Lirmited”

Nations Healthcare West London

2006 Limited*

Nations Healthcare West London

LLP*
Circte (Welbeck) Limited*

Circle (Welbeck) Limited*
Circle Hospital {Bath) Ltd*
Circle Hospital (Reading)
Limited*

Circle Hinchingbrooke Limited*
Circle Property Development
Limited*

Circle Birmingham Limited*

CH Subco Limited

Health Properties Management
Ltd*

Health Properties {(Bath) Limited*

Health Properties (Edinburgh}
Limited*

Health Properties {South
Manchester) Limited*

Circle Partnership Limited

* subsidiary held indirectly

Holding

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Preference shares

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares
Crdinary shares
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

"A'&'B' Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

None (quasi-subsidiary)

Nature of
business

Dormant
Dormant

Property
management
Finance
company
Finance
company
Medical practice
services
Medical practce
services
Professional
services
Property
development
Property
development
Finance
company
Property
development
Property
ownership and
management
Property
ownership and
development
Property
ownership and
development
Employee share
ownership plan

Proportion
of voting
rights held

50 1%

50 1%

50 1%

50 1%

n/a

50 1%

50 1%

501%

50 1%

50 1%

100 0%
100 0%

38 7%

100 0%

100 0%

None
{quasi-
subsidiary)

Country of
incorporation

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Umited Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

Jersey
United Kingdom

Jersey

Jersey

Jersey

Britsh Virgin
Islands
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33 Related party transactions {continued)

Trading transactions

During the year, the Group entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with other related
parttes Transactions entered into and trading balances outstanding are as follows

2012 2011

Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts

owed by owedto owed by owed to

related related related related

Note party party party party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £:000

Circle Partnership Limited a - - - -
Health Properiies (Bath) Liruted b 1,586 (34) 3,128 (34)
JCAM c - - - (13,614)
Stonehage Fund Services Limited {'Stonehage’) d - - - (1)
Capita e - (126) - (85)
Health Estates Limited f 9 - - .
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust ' 241 (2) - -
1,836 {162) 3,128 (13,714)

a  Circle Partnership Limited

Circle Partnership Limited holds 49 9% of Circle Health and was loaned £5,000 by Circle International plc to
acquire shares in Circle Health The balance 1s not shown above because Circle Partnership i1s consolidated
as a quasi subsidiary

b  Health Properties (Bath) Lirmuted

Health Properties (Bath) Limited 1s a joint venture of the Group (note 15) which owns the Bath hospital

The Group has advanced £1,200,000 (2011 £1,200,000) to Health Properties Bath by way of a shareholder
loan which 1s unsecured and payable on demand In addition the Group has recharged expenses and
accrued interest to Health Propertres Bath to give a total receivable of £1,575,000 at 31 December 2012
(2011 £1,508,000) This has been fully impaired duning the year as the balance i1s not considered to be
recoverable.

On 5 QOctober 2009, Circle Hospital {Bath) Lid, a subsidiary of the Group, entered into an agreement to
lease the Bath hespital from Health Properties Bath Under the lease agreement, CircleBath has an annual
rental commitment of £3,598,000 (2011 £3,505,000) for a 25 year term and a rental deposit of £1,586,000
(2011 £1,586,000) 1s held by Health Properties Bath

During the year, the Group paid rent of £3,519,000 under this lease agreement (2011 £3,364,000) At 3t
December 2012, the Group had prepaid rental of €nil (2011 £809,000) to Health Properties Bath The
balance 1s included in prepayments {note 17)

The Group was recharged £m! (2011 £nil) for leasehold improvements, rent and other expenses that were
incurred by Health Properties Bath An amount of £34,000 remains payable to the Group at 31 December
2012 (2011 £34,000)
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33 Related party transactions

Trading transactions (continued)

4]

JCAM

At 31 December 2011 JCAM had loaned the Group £14,131,000, which included £831,000 of rolled up
interest The loan was repayable withn two years and carned an interest charge of 25 0%, payable
quarterly On 20 June 2012, the loan to JCAM was repaid In full At 31 December 2012 the loan balance I1s
£rul (2011 £13,614,000) and has an effective interest rate of nil (2011 28 8%), taking into account both
interest and accretion towards the redemption amount (notes 21} During the year, the Group made no
further advanced payments to JCAM (2011 £6,204,000) (note 18}

JCAM owns 479,800 shares in the Company There are currently 238,930 warrants pnced at £10 31
outstanding to JCAM, which are presented separately in equity at an amount of £1,616,000

Stonehage Fund Services Limited

Stonehage Fund Services Limited, a management and fiductary services company based in Jersey has
been appointed as the manager of the wholly owned subsidiary Health Estates Managers Limited A
number of Directors of subsidiary companies who served durning 2012 were also employed by the ulimate
controling company of Stonehage Fund Services Limited or a company connected with it In total,
Stonehage Fund Services Limited was paid £41,000 (2011 £40,000 for management and fiduciary services
provided to companies within the Group The amount outstanding at 31 December 2012 was £ril (2011
£1,000) fan Crosby, a director of Stonehage Fund Services Limited, 15 also a director of the corporate
trustee of Health Trust (Jersey) and of Health Estates Limited

Capita

During 2012, no Directors of the Company were employed by Capita (as disclosed in the Directors’ report)
In total, the Group was charged £184,000 (2011 £486,000) by Capita for fiductary services provided to
companies within the Group during the year The amount outstanding at 31 December 2012 was £58,000
(2011 £65,000)

The Capita Group also prowvided IT data hosting services dunng the year The Group was charged
£515,000 (2011 £nil) for these services provided during the year The amount outstanding at 31 December
2012 was £69,000 (2011 £nil)

Health Estates Limited

Health Estates Limited acquired a 58 1% share in Health Properties Bath, a joint venture undertaking of the
Group, from Health Properties for £1,800,000 in 2009 During the year the Group paid expenses on behalf
of Health Estates Limited totailing £9,000 (2011 £nil) An amount of £9,000 (2011 Enil) remains receivable
at year end

Health Trust (Jersey)

Health Trust (Jersey) owns 3,131,180 shares (2 4%} in the Company (2011 3,136,180) through a whaolly
owned subsidiary, Health Partners (note 23) Health Trust (Jersey) also holds 2,340,765 warrants in the
Company (note 26)

In 2012, Health Trust (Jersey) holds 3,505,296 shares (2011 2,394,185) of Crrcle Parinership pursuant to a
Share Transfer Agreements dated 15 March 2011 and 24 May 2011, respectively, which provide for the
1ssue of Circle Pannership shares to Health Trust (Jersey) in an amount equal fo an aggregate 10% of the
15s5ued share capital of Circle Partnership

During the year, the Group paid legal and advisory fees of £ril (2011 £65,000) on behalf of Health Trust
(Jersey) in respect of the 2012 155ue of Circle Partnership shares described ahove

Health Partners

On 15 March 2011 some of the existing shareholders, together wath Circle Health, Circle Partnership and
Health Partners, entered into a Share Transfer Agreement whereby Health Partners Iransferred a
percentage of its holding in Circle Holdings plc to the existing shareholders The effect of the Share
Transfer Agreement on the Company was a profit on issuance of shares of £2,241,000 in the year ending
31 December 2011
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33 Related party transactions (continued)
Trading transactions (continued)

h  Health Partners Limited (continued)

The transter of shares between Health Partners and the existing shareholders was conditional on
Circle Health confirming it would allot shares in Circle Partnership to Health Partners As such, on

15 March 2011 and 24 May 2011, Circle Partnership agreed to 1ssue Health Partners ordinary
shares of £0 01 equa! to an aggregate 10 0% of the ssued share capiat in Circle Partnership

Alongside the 1ssuance of these shares at par value, it was agreed that in the event that Circle

Partnership allotted any further shares, Health Partners would be entitled to the same proportion,
so that its 10 0% holding was not diluted The effect of the Share Transfer Agreement on the non-

controlling interest's share of prior year losses was £2,204,000

i Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

On 1 February 2012, the Group commenced the operation to run Hinchingbrooke Health Care
NHS Trust, which will see the Group manage an estimated £1 billion of revenue over the ten year
contract period  Under the terms of the contract, the Group has agreed to make working capital
contnbutions of up to £5 0 rmillien and will share surpluses generated over the term of the contract
with the Trust  The conlract allows either party to terminate 1if Hinchingbrooke incurs mare than
£5 0 milon in aggregate deficits, at which point the Group 1s also required to pay a further £2 0

million In termination costs 10 Hinchingbrooke (which amount i1s currently held in cash escrow)

Dunng the year services to the value of £315,000 have been recharged from Circle Health to
Hinchingbroocke Mainly relating to staff time for the provision of specialist services In accordance

with the project agreement

The following are related parties by virtue of their significant shareholding Notes 23 and 25 provide

turther details

Number of % Number of

shares held shareholding warrants held

Balderton Capitat 12,756,534 98% 4,786
BlackRock 7,178,555 55% -
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685 7 1% 296
Lansdowne Partners 37,967,008 29 0% 1,262
Invesco Perpetual 30,368,920 23 2% -
Odey Asset Management 27,878,787 21 3% -

Tim Bunting and Jamie Wood {resigned 18 June 2012) served as Non-Execulive Directors of Circle

Holdings plc They are employed by Balderton Capital and Odey Asset Management, respectively No

fees were charged for therr services to the Group

Tony Bromovsky joined the Board of Circle Holdings plc in November 2012 due to Odey Asset
Management LLP exercising their nght to appoint a director to the board Mr Bromovsky was paid
£3,000 for his services In 2012

Other than the above and the equity transactions detailed in notes 23 and 25, there have been no
transaclions with these related parties
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For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

34 Events after the balance sheet date
Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Under the terms of the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust franchise agreement, Circle
Hinchingbrooke Limited 1s required to make support payments 1o Hinchingbrooke in the event that the
Trust projects a negative cashflow position In accordance with this obligation, Circle Hinchingbrooke
Limited made a support payment to the Trust of £3 7 million at the end of January 2013 to ensure the
Trust remains in surplus for the financial year ending 31 March 2013

Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre Contract Win

The Group has been selected as the preferred bidder by NHS commissioners to provide renewed
services at the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years commencing from July 2013
The Group's appointment is subject to completion of final contract terms, which 1s expected by the end
of the second quarter of 2013 The decision to select Circle as the preferred bidder foliows a seven
month tender process managed by NKS Midiands and East's Strategic Projects Team on behalf of
Principia Rushchiffe Clinical Commissioning Group  The expected contract value for delivering core
services will be circa £15 million annually with additional services expected to be provided under the
Any Qualified Provider framework

AIB / Edinburgh loan

Allied Insh Bank ('AlB"} and Health Properties (Edinburgh) Limited (‘Health Properties Edinburgh’) have
agreed a senes of steps where AlB will take possesston of the Edinburgh property and Health
Properties Edinburgh will thereafter be dissolved on a consensual basis  This agreement was reached
following discussions with AIB and taking into consideration the value of the property and the fact that
the Circle Group holds no equity in the property  Current expectation 1s that Health Properties
Edinburgh will be dissolved dunng the fourth quarter of 2013

West London

Nations Healthcare West London LLP (‘Nations’) has exercised therr nght to terminate the lease of
1010 Great West Road (the Property) on 4 April 2013 Circle 1s awaiting acknowledgment from the
receivers of the Property (appointed by Lioyds Bank in February 2012) in respect of this
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Circle Holdings plc

Independent auditors’ report
To the members of Circle Holdings plc

We have audited the financial statements of Circle Holdings plc for the year ended 31 December 2012
which comprise the company balance sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in therr preparation 15 applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Praclise)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on pages 29 to 30 the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and far view OQur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and Internaticnal Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinton, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body
In accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for no other purpose We do
not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report ts shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our pnor
consent In writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves cbtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sutficient to give reascnable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error  This ncludes an assessment of whether the accounting polictes are
appropriate. to the company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information n the annual report to identify matenal inconsistencies with the audited financtal statements
Ii we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or Inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opimion the financial statements

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affars as at 31 December 2012,
. have been property prepared in accordance United Kingdom Accounting Standards, and

- have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies {Jersey) Law
1991

Opimon on other matter
In cur epiion the nformation given in the Directors’ Repon for the financial year for which financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies {Jersey) Law 1991
requires us to report to you if, in our opinien

- proper accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for our audt have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

- we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for our audit
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Circle Holdings plc

Independent auditors’ report
To the members of Circle Holdings plc (continued)

Emphasis of matter - Going concern

In forming our opimon on the financial statements, which 1s not modified, we have considered the
adequacy of the disclosure made i note 1 10 the Company financial statements concerning the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern While the Directors are confident that the Group can continue to
mest their working capital requirements over the next 12 to 18 months, any significant deviations from
therr forecasts could impact on s ability to do so, and these conditions as explained in note 1 to the
financial statements indicate the existence of a material unceriainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern The financial statements do not include the
adjustments that would result if the Company was unable to continue as a going concern

Other matter
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Circle Holdings plc for the year ended
31 December 2012

Nigel Reynolds

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Recognized Auditors
Lendon

17 Apn! 2013
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Circle Holdings plc

Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2012

2012 2011
Note £°000 £'000
Fixed assets
Investments 5 17,106 24,194
Current assets
Debtors 6 48,802 18,597
Cash at bank and in hand 22,899 15,452
71,701 34,049
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 7 (577) (14,303)
Net current assets 71,124 19,746
Total assets less current habilihes 88,230 43,940
Net assets 88,230 43,940
Capital and reserves
Share capital 8 2,614 1,255
Share premium 8 193,145 148,548
QOther reserves 8 11,303 11,303
Warrant reserve 9,11 22,390 21,475
Share-based charges reserve 9N 96 -
Profit and loss account 9 {141,318) (138,641)
Total shareholders’ funds 10 88,230 43,940

The financial statements on pages 95 to 108 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 April 2013 and

were signed on its behalf by

Steve Melton Paolo Pien
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Circle Holdings ple Registered number 100016 (Jersey)
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012

1 Accounting policies

Basis af preparation

These financial statements are prepared for Circle Holdings ple (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31
December 2012 The Company 1s the ultimate parent entity of the Circle Holdings plc Group (the 'Group'}
These financial statements are prepared under the histoncal cost conventicn and in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom The principal accounting
pohcies, which have been applied consistently for both years presented, are set out below

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared on a histornical cost basis in accordance with the Companies
(Jersey} Law 1891 and applicable UK accounting standards The Company has not prepared a separale profit
and loss account and cash flow statement as it 1s not a requirement under Comparues (Jersey) Law 1991

Going concern
The Directers' consider 1t to be appropnate for the Company financial statements to be prepared on a Going
Concern basis based on the assumptions considered in the Directors' report on page 17

Investments

Investments in subsidianes and joint ventures are valued at cost less provision for imparrment The carrying
value of fixed asset investments 1s reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s provided n full (without discounting) based on current tax rates and law, on timing differences
that result in an obhgation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a nght to pay less tax n the future
except as otherwise required by FRS 19 'Deferred Tax'
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
Warrants

A warrant 1s an instrument 1ssued by a company which gives the holder the night to purchase shares
in that company at a specific pnce at a future date An equity Instrument IS any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its habilites A warrant 1s
treated as a financial labilty if

- Itis a non-denvative and the entity 1s obliged to deliver a vanable number of the company's cwn
shares, or

— Itis a denvative that will be settled other than by a fixed amount of cash or other assets for a
fixed number of the company’s own shares

Transaction costs are apportioned between the hability and equity components of the shares based

on the allocation of proceeds to the lrability and equity components when the instruments are first

recogrised

1 Equity warrants

The proceeds onissue of equity warrants are included within shareholders’ equity, net of transaction
costs The farr value of the equity component 1s not remeasured mn subsequent years The farr value
of warrants 1s credited to equity with the debit being charged to the income statement or taken to
non-current habilities where the warrants are inked to a loan

Equity warrants are valued using an appropriate valuation methodology on a diluted pneing basis,
based on the relevant share price at the time of 1ssue or based on an assessment of the market
prnce at the time of 1Issue

1 Financial habilty warrants

Warrants 1ssued that create a financial liability to the Company are presented as a hability in the
balance sheet, measured mnitially at farr value, net of transaction costs and subsequently at
amortised cost until extinguished on conversion or redemption The inrtal farr value of the warrant
liability 1s determined using an appropnate valuation methodology

Capital contributions

Share-based incentive schemes for employees are operated by subsidiary undertakings that are
settted by equity instruments in the Company The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and 13
recognised over the vesting penod, which ends on the date on which relevant employees become
fully entitled to the warrants in the Company

The grant of these warranis in the Company 1o the employee of the subsidiary undertaking 1s
treated as a capital contribution The fair value 1s recogmised over the vesting perniod as an increase
to the investment in subsidiary undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
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Circle Holdings plc
Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

2 Profitand loss
The result for the year 1s a loss of £2,677,000 (2011 loss of £67,728,000)

3 Auditors’ remuneration

The Company incurred £26,000 (2011 £25,000) in relation to UK statutory audit fees for the year
ended 31 December 2012

4 Directors’ emoluments

During the year £339,000 {2011 £116,000) was pawd to Directors of the Company which includes
amounts received In respect of share-based charges Remuneration was paid to other Directors via
subsidiary companies, total details of which are included in the Directors’ Remuneration report

5 Investments

Company

2012 2011
Cost £'000 £'000
At 1 January 163,735 64,346
Additions - Circle Welbeck Limited {note 13) - 97,791
Addiions - Health Properties Limited - 1
Additions - CH Subco 1,800 -
Additions - capital contnbutions (note 12) 915 1,597
At 31 December 166,450 163,735

2012 2011
Provision for impairment £'000 £'000
Al 1 January 139,541 38,136
Reclassification from trade receivables - 31,637
Proviston in the year 9,803 69,768
At 31 December 149,344 139,541
Net book amount
At 31 December 17,106 24,194

Bunng the year, the Company acquired the ordinary share capital n CH Subco Limited for
£1,800,000 which has been classified to investments Durnng the year, the Company has impaired
the investment In subsidianes by £9,803,000 to reflect the most recent market capitahsation of the
business at 31 December 2012
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the Company financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)
5 Investmenis (continued)

The Directors consider that the value of the company's fixed asset investments, which are hsted below, 1
supported by therr underlying assets

Proportion of

voting nghts Country of
Name of company Holding Nature of business held incorporation
Circle International ple Ordinary Holding and 100 0% Uruted
shares management Kingdom
Health Capital Limited Ordinary Holding and 100 0% United
shares management Kingdom
Health Properties Limited Ordinary Holding and 100 0% Jersey
shares management
Health Estates Managers Limited Ordinary Fund services 100 0% Jersey
shares (JFSC**
registered)
CH Subco Limited Ordinary Finance company 100 0% Jersey
shares
Circle (Welbeck) Limited* Preference Finance company n/a Urited
shares Kingdom
* subsidiary held indirectly
** Jersey Financtal Sennces Comnussion
6 Debtors
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Prepayments and accrued income 20 4,256
Amounts owed by Group undentakings 48,782 14,341
48,802 18,597

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are a combination of interest-beanng and interest-free amounts,
unsecured and recevable on demand {note 13)

7 Creditors - amounts falling due within one year

2012 2011

£°000 £ 000

Bank lpans (JCAM) - 13,614
Trade creditors 250 143
Amounts owed to Group underiakings (note 13) 195 -
Accruals and deferred income 132 546
577 14,303

The JCAM loan facility of £13,300,000 together with rolled up interest of £831,000 gave a total amount due
at redemption of £14,131,000 (2011 £14,131,000) The Group repawd n full the £14,131,000 loan owed to
JCAM on 20 June 2012

99
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Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

8 Called up share capital

Authorised 2012 2011
£'000 £000

Crdinary shares of £0 02 sach 2,000 2,000
Number Number

Number of authonsed shares 250,000,000 100,000,000

Allotted and fully paid up

Share Other
Shares Share capital premium reserve Total

Ordinary shares (number) £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2011 4,248,300 425 111,680 - 112,105
Shares Issued - March 2011 £010 234,375 23 2,277 - 2,300
Shares issued - May 2011 £010 1,793,722 179 13,448 - 13,627

6,276,397 627 127,405 - 128,032
Five-for-one share spiit £002 31,381,984 627 127,405 - 128,032
Shares 1ssued - June 2011 {net of
costs) €002 16,633,552 333 21,143 - 21,476
Shares issued from warrants - June
2011 £002 14,755,513 295 - 11,303 11,598
At 1 January 2012 62,771,049 1,255 148,548 11,303 161,106
Shares issued - 18 June 2012 (net
of costs) £002 78,465 2 - 2
Shares 1ssued - 18 June 2012 {net
of costs) £002 67,857,143 1,357 44,597 - 45,954
At 31 December 2012 130,706,657 2,614 193,145 11,303 207,062

On 18 June 2012, the Company 1ssued, at nominal value, an aggregate of 78,465 ordinary shares of £0 02 each in the capital
of the Company to Non-Executive Directors pursuant to individual share awards

On 19 June 2012, the Company recerved £47,500,000 of equity investment Of the total consideration received, £1,357,000
has been allocated to share capital (67,857,143 ordinary shares at £0 02 each} and £44,597,000 to share premwum [n
addition, the Company received £2,000 from the allocation of shares to Non-Executive Directors

Transaction costs incurred dunng the 2012 equity raise totalled £1,546,000 (31 December 2011 £4,336,000), of which
£1,546,000 (31 December 2011 £3,806,000) has been taken to share premium
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Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

9 Reserves

Share~
based Profit and
Share Warrant Qther charges ioss
premium reserve raserve reserve account
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Al 1 January 2011 148,548 21,475 11,308 - (138,641)
Issuance of shares 44 597 - - - -
Loss for the financial year - - - - (2,677)
Additions to warrants reserve - 915 - - -
(note 12)
Awards of shares to Non- - - - 96 -
Executive directors
At 31 December 2012 193,145 22,390 11,303 96  (141,318)
10 Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds
2012 2011
£'000 £'000
Loss for the financial year (2,677) {67,728)
Profit on 1ssuance of shares (see below) - 2,241
Net proceeds on 1ssue of ordmary share capital (note 8) 45,956 49,001
Additions to warrant reserve (note 11) 915 1,597
Awards of shares to Non-Executive directors 96 -
Net addition to shareholders' funds 44,290 {14,889)
Opening shareholders’ funds 43,940 58,829
Closing shareholders’ funds 88,230 43,940

On 15 March 2011 some of Company’'s existing shareholders, together with other Group companies
and Health Partners, entered into a Share Transfer Agreement whereby Health Partners transferred
a percentage of its holding in Circle Holdings plc to the existing shareholders in return {or Crrcle
Partnership allotting and 1ssuing ordinary shares at par value to Health Partners The effect of Share
Transfer Agreement was a profit 1o Circle Holdings plc of £2,241,000
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Circle Holdings plc

Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

11 Warrants

The Company 1ssues warrants which give the holders the nght to purchase shares for a specific price at a future date The
warrants are treated either as equity instruments and recorded in the warrant reserve, or as inancial habilties and recorded
n llabiltties, depending on certain cnteria, as outlined in the Company’s accounting pohcies There are no remaining warrants
1ssued as financia) labilites

Warrants treated as equity instruments

Movements i the warrant reserve dunng the year are as {ollows

2012 201
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 21,475 19,878
Share-based charges in respect of warrants issued (note 12) 915 1,597
At 31 December 22,390 21,475

The following table details all share warrants 1ssued by the Company which are recogrised in equity, none of which have
been exercised to date

Original
warrants, Warrant reserve:
Rewvised restated for At1 Share- At 31
exercise five-for-one Revised January based December
price spht Modified warranis 2012 charges 2012
Beneficiary £ (number) {number) (number) £°000 £000 £000
Warrants 1ssued in 2008
— Balderton Capital b £152 523,460 - 523,460 4111 - 4,111
— Lansdowne Partners b £152 99,630 - 99,630 783 - 783
- JCAM £10 31 238,930 - 238,930 1,616 - 1.616
Warrants issued in 2009
— Balderton Capital b £152 172,355 - 172,355 675 - 675
— Lansdowne Partners b £152 172,355 - 172,355 479 - 479
— BlueCrest Capuital
Management b £152 75,510 - 75,510 296 - 296
Warrants modified in 2011
- Health Trust {Jersey) a £152 - 2,340,765 2,340,765 13,515 915 14,430
1,282,240 3,623,005 21,475 915 22,390

2,340,765

a The cancellatton of the warrants 1ssued to Health Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust (Jersey) - option pool and re-issue of

warrants to Health Trust (Jersey) are detailed in note 26 of the consoNidated financial statements

In May 2011 after IPQ the existtng share warrants, which consisted of warrants 1ssued in 2008 and 2009 to Health Trust
(Jersey) and Health Trust (Jersey) opticn pool were modified adjusting both the exercise price and vesting conditions
Under the terms of the modification the existing share warrants were replaced with warrants 1ssued exclusively to Health
Trust (Jersey), of which Al Parsa 15 a beneficiary, and the exercise pnice was set to the IPO pnce of £1 52 per new
ordinary share issued The modified share warrants do not have any expiry date or any conditions attached A far value
assessment was completed based on the value of the existing warrants prior to IPO and the fair value of the modified
warrants determined using Black-Scholes on a diluted pricing basis using the parameters outlined on the next page The
incremental far value of the modiication 1s recogrised on a straight-line basts over a 24 month period from May 2011,
Itne with the revised vesting timetable (1/24 every month from May 2011} The warrants charge for the year therefore
includes 12 months' charge relating to the incremental farr valve in addition to the residual iIncome statement charge
relating to the farr value at the grant date of the onginal 2008 and 2009 warrants, with the 2008 tranche becoming fully
vested during the year
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Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 {continued)

12 Capital Contributions

Shares and share warrants are 1ssued to employees and chricians and external investors who contribute to the
suceess and growth n value of the Company The issuance of these warrants and shares, including the 1ssue of
shares to scheme partictpants and employses, qualifies as equity settied share-based payment transactions and
falls within the scope of IFRS 2 'Share-based payment' The impact on the iIncome statement in respect of share-
based charges i1s as follows Note there 1s no charge associated with the transaction where the employees

subscribe for the shares at full market value

2012 2011

Note Type £000 £000

Issued by Circle Partnership Limited a Shares - -
Awarded to Health Trust {Jersey) b Warrants 915 1,597
Awarded {0 Non-Executive Directors c Shares 96 -
1,01 1,597

Circle Partnership Limited

Circle Partnership Limited was estabhshed in 2008 as an employee share ownership plan and currentty owns
49 9% of the shares n Circle Health It enables the participants {(employees and clinicians) who contnbute to
the success and growth in value of Circle Health to be owners of the business The participants are 1ssued
shares in Circle Partnership which are held by the Circle Partnership Limited Benefit Trust

Under the scheme, shares are awarded on deferred payment terms  The purchase pnce for the shares
becomas payable upon the occurrence of certain events, including the completion of a sale of the shares by a
participant The subscrption price for the shares 1s the Far Market Value (FMV') as determined by an
independent valuatton and as such, there I1s no share-based charge

Health Trust (Jersey)

In May 2011 new share warrants were 155ued exclusively to Health Trust {lersey), of which A% Parsa is a
beneficrary, replacing the share warrants previously 1ssued to Health Trust (Jersey) and Health Trust (Jersey)
option pool  Under the terms of the new warrants, the exercise pnce was set to the IPO price of £1 52 per
new ordinary share issued The 2,340,765 share warrants vest over a 24 month period from May 2011 and
are exercisable from the date they vest (1/24 every month from May 2011) and do not have any expiry date
The share warrants do not have any conditions attached A farr value assessment was completed based on
the value of the existing warrants pnor to cancellation and the far value of new warrants determined using
Black-Scholes on a diluted pnoing basis using the parameters outhned on the nexl page

Non-Executive Directors

The Group operates an equity-settled, share based compensation plan for its Non-Exacutive Directers The
entity recerves sarvices from these Directors as consideration for sharas in the Group The far valus of the
services received in exchange for the grant of the awards ts recognised as an expense The total amount to
be expensed 1s determined by reference to the fair vatue of the awards granted

Non-market performance and service condittons are included in assumptions abou! the number of options
that are expected to vest The total expense is recogrised aver the vesting period, which 1s the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied At the end of each reporting penod, the Group
revises iis estimates of the number of oplions that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
conditions It recognises the impact of the revision to onginal eshmates, if any, in the income staterment, with
a corresponding adjustment to equity When the vesting conditions are met, the company 1ssues new shares
The proceeds receved net of any directly atinbulable transaction costs are credited to share capital {(nominal
value) and share prenmum
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Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

12 Capital Contributions (continued)
Modified warrant 1ssue parameters (reflecting five-for-one share spht)

Stock price £152
Exercise price £152
Expected volatility” 50 0%
Risk free interest rate 50%
Warrant life** 10 years
Fair value of warrant £102

* The histoncal volatility is assumed to be Indicative of future trends, which may not necessanly be the actual outcome
** The Iife of the warrant i1s based on the expected term and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur

The incremental increase In the far value was assessed at £1,478,000 and 1s being charged to the
income statement over the remaimning vesting pencd along with the residual charge relating to the
far value at the grant date of the inthal warrants The share-based charge recognised in the income
statement for the year to 31 December 2012 1s £915,000 (2011 £1,597,000) with the credit being
recognised n the warrant reserve There were no new warrant 1ssues qualifying as share-based
charges dunng 2012 (2011 nil) and none of the warrants were exercised In 2012 (2011 nil)

Movements 1n the number of warrants outstanding and therr related weighted average exercise
prices are as follows

2012 2012 2011 2011

Average Average

Warrants  exercise price Warrants  exercise pnce

{number) (£ per share) {number) (€ per share)

At 1 January 2,340,765 152 468,153 5155
Five-for-ong share split - - 1,872,612 (41 24)
Modification - - - (8 79)
At 31 December 2,340,765 152 2,340,765 152
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Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

13 Related party transactions

During the year, the Company entered into transactions, in the ordinary course of business, with
other related parhes Transactions entered into and trading balances outstanding are as follows

2012 2011
Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts

owedby owedto owedby owedto

related related related related

Note party party party party

£'000 £°000 £'000 £'000

JCAM a - - - (13,614)

Crrcle Health Limited b 33,706 (195) 8,948 -

Nations Healthcare Limited c 3,205 - 2,890 -

Circle (Welbeck) Limited d 8,927 - 1,732 -

Capita e 12 - 17 -
a JCAM

At 31 December 2011 JCAM had loaned the Company £14,131,000, which included £831,000
of rolled up interest The loan was repayable within two years and carned an interest charge of
25 0%, payable quarierly The lpan was refinanced in February 2012 through a wholly owned
subsiciary, CH Subco Lid and repaid in full on 20 June 2012 At 31 December 2012 the loan
balance !s £nil (2011 £13,614,000) and has an effective interest rate of % (2011 28 8%),
taking into account both interest and accretion towards the redemption amount {note 21 of the
consohdated financial staterments)

There are currently 238,930 warrants pnced at £10 31 outstanding to JCAM, which are
presented separately in equity at an amount of £1,616,000

b Circle Health Limited

Circle Health Limited 1s a 50 1% owned subsidiary of Circle Internaticnal ple, a wholly owned
subsidiary undertaking A loan of £32,378,000 (2011 £8,925,000) has been advanced to Circle
Health, which remains outstanding at 31 December 2012, together with accrued interest of
£1,328,000 {2011 £23,000} The interest rate on the loan 1s 7 0% {2011 7 0%)

During the year Circle Health incurred expenses on behalf of the Company and recharged these
at cost to the value of £195,000 (2011 £2086,000)

¢ Nations Healthcare Limited
The Company indirectly owns 50 1% of Nations Healthcare Limited, via its subsidianies Circle
Health and Circle International plc

The Company directly owns £4,500,000 non-voting 7 0% (2011 7 0%) preference shares in
Nations Healthcare Limited, which are included in fixed asset investments (note 5) The
Company has accrued a total of £3,205,000 {2011 £2,890,000) of preference dwvidends on
these shares
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13 Related party transactions (continued)
d Circle (Welbeck) Limited

The Company indirectly owns 50 1% of Circle {(Welbeck) Limited, via its subsidiaries Circle Health
and Circle International plc In 2011, the Company assigned unsecured loans and accrued
interest of £74,917,000 and £22,874,000 previously owing from Circle Health and Nations
Healthcare Limited respectively, to Circle (Welbeck) Limited, for consideration of £97,791,000 of
7 0% preference shares The Company has accrued a totaf of £8,927,000 (2011 £1,732,000) of
preference dividends on these shares

Of the unsecured loans assigned to Circle (Welbeck) Limited, £31,637,000 was provided against
at 31 December 2010 and has subsequently been reclassified to investments Following the
assignment to Circle (Welbeck) Limited, the Company impaired the investment in preference
shares by £66,154,000 in 2011 1o reflect the market capitalisation of the business following the
recent fundraising

e Capita

During 2012, no Drirectors of the Company were employed by Capita In total, the Company was
charged £96,000 (2011 £293,000) by Camta for hduciary services provided to the Company
during the year Capita charged the Group £mil in the year to 31 December 2012 tor Director
responsibility fees (2010 £11,000) The amount outstanding at 31 December 2012 was £12,000
{2011 £17,000)

f Health Trust (Jersey)

Health Trust (Jersey) owns 3,131,180 shares {2 4%) in the Company (2011 3,136,180) through a
wholly owned subsidiary, Health Partners (note 23) Health Trust {Jersey) also holds 2,340,765
warrants in the Company (note 26)

In 2012, Health Trust (Jersey) holds 3,505,296 shares (2011 2,394,185) of Circle Partnership
pursuant to a Share Transfer Agreements dated 15 March 2011 and 24 May 2011, respectively,
which provide for the 1ssue of Circle Partnership shares to Health Trust (Jersey) in an amount
equal to an aggregate 10% of the issued share capital of Circle Partnership

g Health Partners Limited

On 15 March 2011 some of the existing shareholders, together with Circle Health, Circle
Partnership and Health Parners, entered into a Share Transfer Agreement whereby Health
Partners transferred a percentage of its holding in Circle Holdings plc to the existing shareholders
and at the same time Circle Partnership allotted and i1ssued its ordinary shares at par value to
Health Partners The effect of the Share Transter Agreement on the Company was a prohit on
1ssuance of shares of £2,241,000
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13 Related party transactions {continued)

The following are related parties by virtue of therr significant shareholding The Group financial

statements provide more details

Number of

shares held

Balderton Capital 12,756,534
BlackRock 7,178,555
BlueCrest Capital Management 9,252,685
Lansdowne Partners 37,967,008
Odey Asset Management 30,368,920
Invesco Perpetual 27,878,787

%
shareholding

98%
5 5%
71%
28 0%

23 2%
21 3%

Number of warrants
held

4,786
296
1,262

Tim Bunting and Jamte Woaod (resigned 18 June 2012) served as Non-Executive Directors of Circle
Holdings plc  They are employed by Balderton Capital and Odey Asset Management respectively
Tony Bromovsky joined the Board of Circle Holdings plc in November 2012 due to Odey Asset
Management LLP exercising their nght to appoint a director to the board No fees are charged for

their services to the Group

Other than the above and the equity iransactions detailed in note 11, there have been no

transactions with these related parties
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14 Events after the balance sheet date

Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust

Under the terms of the Hinchingbrooke Health Care NHS Trust franchise agreement, Circle
Hinchingbrooke Linuted 1s required 1o make support payments to Hinchingbrooke in the event that
the Trust projects a negative cashflow position In accordance with this obligation, the Group made
a support payment to the Trust of £3 7 million at the end of January 2013 to ensure the Trust
remains in surplus for the financial year ending 31 March 2013

Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre Contract Win

The Group has been selected as the preferred bidder by NHS commissioners 1o provide renewed
services at the Nottingham NHS Treatment Centre for a further five years commencing from July
2013 The Group’s appointment I1s subject to completion of final contract terms, which is expected
by the end of the second quarter of 2013 The decision to select Circle as the preferred bidder
follows a seven month tender process managed by NHS Midlands and East's Strategic Projects
Team on behalf of Principia Rushcliffe Clinrcal Commussioning Group  The expecled contract value
for delivening core services will be circa £15 miflion annually with addiional services expected to be
provided under the Any Qualified Provider framework

AlB / Edinburgh locan

Alled Insh Bank (‘AlB') and Health Properties (Edinburgh) Limited (*Health Properties Edinburgh’)
have agreed a senes of steps where AIB will take possession of the Edinburgh property and Health
Properties Edinburgh will thereafter be dissolved on a consensual basis  This agreement was
reached following discussions with AIB and taking mto consideration the value of the property and
the fact that the Circle Group holds no equity in the property Current expectahion 1s that Health
Properties Edinburgh will be dissolved during the fourth quarter of 2013

West London

Nations Healthcare West London LLP (‘Nations') has exercised therr night to terminate the lease of
1010 Great West Road (the Property) on 4 Apnl 2013 Circle 1s awaiting acknowledgment from the
receivers of the Property (appointed by Lloyds Bank in February 2012) in respect of this
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